A thesis submitted to the Department of Environmental Sciences and Policy of Central European University in part fulfilment of the Degree of Master of Science

> Developing Agroenvironmental Policies: Interactions Between Polish People and the State

Lenore ETHINGTON

May, 2011

Budapest

Erasmus Mundus Masters Course in Environmental Sciences, Policy and Management





This thesis is submitted in fulfillment of the Master of Science degree awarded as a result of successful completion of the Erasmus Mundus Masters course in Environmental Sciences, Policy and Management (MESPOM) jointly operated by the University of the Aegean (Greece), Central European University (Hungary), Lund University (Sweden) and the University of Manchester (United Kingdom).



Erasmus Mundus

Notes on copyright and the ownership of intellectual property rights:

(1) Copyright in text of this thesis rests with the Author. Copies (by any process) either in full, or of extracts, may be made only in accordance with instructions given by the Author and lodged in the Central European University Library. Details may be obtained from the Librarian. This page must form part of any such copies made. Further copies (by any process) of copies made in accordance with such instructions may not be made without the permission (in writing) of the Author.

(2) The ownership of any intellectual property rights which may be described in this thesis is vested in the Central European University, subject to any prior agreement to the contrary, and may not be made available for use by third parties without the written permission of the University, which will prescribe the terms and conditions of any such agreement.

(3) For bibliographic and reference purposes this thesis should be referred to as:

Ethington, L. 2011. Developing Agroenvironmental Policies: Interactions Between Polish People and the State. Master of Science thesis, Central European University, Budapest.

Further information on the conditions under which disclosures and exploitation may take place is available from the Head of the Department of Environmental Sciences and Policy, Central European University.

Author's declaration

No portion of the work referred to in this thesis has been submitted in support of an application for another degree or qualification of this or any other university or other institute of learning.

Lenore ETHINGTON

CENTRAL EUROPEAN UNIVERSITY

ABSTRACT OF THESIS submitted by: Lenore ETHINGTON for the degree of Master of Science and entitled: Developing Agroenvironmental Policies: Interactions Between Polish People and the State Month and Year of submission: May, 2011.

Agroenvironmental policies in new member states in CEE have been adopted to align with the EU *acquis*. As a result despite the lack of a negotiating role in the development of these policies different states have interpreted EU Directives differently as a result of domestic histories and preferences. This study examines the development of policies and activities of campaigns regarding the opposition to GMOs and conservation of agrobiodiversity in Poland. I argue that anti-GMO legislation has been developed from the bottom-up in response to public opposition while agrobiodiversity legislation results from top-down international and EU law. Although the legislation regarding the two issues has been developed in a contrasting manner, both the actual implementation of laws and values of the public reflect a resistance to change both policies and practices.

Keywords: GMOs, agrobiodiversity, Poland, multi-level governance, social capital, framing, political ecology, CEE

Acknowledgements

My thesis would not have been possible without the kindheartedness and hospitality of the activists and farmers I met in Poland. These people gave me not only their time and insight into the issues but also gave me a place in their homes, amazing Polish food, and a window into their lives. There are dozens of people who were happy to share with this curious American girl, but I would especially like to thank: Ewa and Peter Stratenwerth, Tomasz Czubachowski, and Malgorzata Horzata for their hospitality and assistance.

My advisor, Guntra Aistara, helped me every step of the way and was a source of encouragement throughout the process. I couldn't have asked for more a more attentive advisor and can only hope my thesis adequately reflects the expertise of her insight and guidance. Thank you, Guntra.

Additionally, all of my coursemates have served as support throughout the writing process, especially my partner in the examination of agricultural issues, Emily Dowding-Smith, and Will Cohen who have listened to me talk about Poland and GMOs and agrobiodiversity incessantly.

Table of Contents

1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 BACKGROUND ON POLISH AGRICULTURE	2 3
1.2 SIGNIFICANCE OF AGROENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES 1.2.1 GMOS AS 'OBJECTS OF CONTENTION'	3
1.2.2 CONSERVATION OF AGROBIODIVERSITY	5
1.3 POLITICAL ECOLOGY	7
2. METHODOLOGY	11
2.1 MOTIVATION	11
2.1.1 LITERATURE REVIEW	11
2.1.2 DATA COLLECTION 2.1.3 INTERVIEWS	12 13
2.1.4 DISCOURSE ANALYSIS	15
2.2 LIMITATIONS	15
2.3 OVERVIEW	16
3 DELIBERATION IN FORMATION OF AGROENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES	17
3.1. MULTI-LEVEL GOVERNANCE	18
3.2. GMO LEGISLATION IN THE EU AND POLAND	20
3.2.1. DEVELOPMENT OF GMO REGULATION IN THE EUROPEAN UNION 3.2.2. REGULATION OF GMOS IN POLAND	20 23
3.2.3 THE CURRENT STATE OF GMO REGULATION	23
3.3. AGROBIODIVERSITY LEGISLATION IN THE EU AND POLAND	33
3.3.1 EU	33
3.3.2 POLAND	35
3.4 COSTS OF ACCESSION	38
4. FRAMING THE ISSUES	39
4.1. FRAME ALIGNMENT	40
4.2. DISCOURSES ON THE ISSUES	42
4.2.1 CONCERNS ABOUT GMOS 4.2.2 MOTIVATING THE CONSERVATION OF AGROBIODIVERSITY	42 43
4.2.2 Monaging Risk	45
4.3.1 GMOS AS UNCERTAIN RISK	46
4.3.2 AGROBIODIVERSITY WITH POTENTIAL TO MITIGATE RISK	49
4.4 NATIONAL IDENTITY AND RELIGION	51
4.4.1.GMOS AS FOREIGN AND UNETHICAL 4.4.2 AGROBIODIVERSITY TO MAINTAIN TRADITION FOR FUTURE GENERATIONS	52 54
4.5 GLOBALIZATION AND EU ACCESSION	56
4.5.1 GMOs as Resistance	57
4.6 ALIGNING THE FRAMES	60

5. SOCIAL CAPITAL	62
5.1 Social capital	62
5.2 Post-socialism and social capital	65
5.3 INFORMAL NETWORKS	68
5.3.1 Avoiding Bureaucracy	68
5.3.2 The Personal Connection	69
5.4 Moving Towards the West	72
5.5 Social Capital in Poland	74
<u>6 CONCLUSION</u>	75
BIBLIOGRAPHY	79

1. Introduction

Poland's agroenvironmental legislation has been shaped both by a large rural population, a socialist past and recent accession to the European Union (EU). Poland has the largest rural population in the EU and a large number of small family farms that were retained throughout and following the socialist period. The political and economic transition to a democratic market economy in 1989, followed by EU accession in 2004 have interacted with the large rural population, Polish values, and perceptions of rural life to shape the development of agroenvironmental legislation.

By focusing on two specific issues – conservation of agrobiodiversity and geneticallymodified organisms (GMOs) – I will examine the ways that the Polish people and state interact with each other and the world to develop and implement agroenvironmental policies. I will discuss how GMOs have been met with a high-level of resistance by society and how, as a result of bottom-up initiatives, Poland has passed some of the most progressive anti-GMO legislation in the world. I will then contrast this societal resistance toward GMOs and the progressive legislation that accompanies this with the issue of preserving agrobiodiversity. Unlike in Western Europe, where the rejection of GMOs and promotion of agrobiodiversity generally fall together under one banner of environmental progressiveness, the preservation of agrobiodiversity garners little public support in Poland. As such policy has developed in a top-down manner with a basis in international and European Union (EU) legislation. Campaigns working to address these issues must interact with public opinion, beliefs, and the legacy of a socialist past as well as governmental institutions on both a national and supranational level. The local narratives of nation and nature come in contrast to wider global narratives, leading to incongruities in the development and implementation of policies. By examining the laws, public beliefs and the strategies of campaigns surrounding these issues I hope to reveal ways in which Poland is both similar to and different from other Central and Eastern European (CEE) countries and what this reveals about the difficulties and potential for developing agroenvironmental policy in the region.

To introduce the subject I will briefly describe the Polish agricultural sector, the concept of political ecology and the relevance of the agroenvironmental issues chosen for this study. I will then discuss the political, cultural and societal facets of these issues in more detail, elaborating on the ways these components interact in the discourse and policy regarding GMOs and the conservation of agrobiodiversity in Poland.

1.1 Background on Polish Agriculture

Poland is a unique case in the CEE region since it was the only state where the majority of agricultural land was not collectivized. This occurred as a result of the refusal of rural communities to give up their land, and a Polish socialist government that was resistant to Soviet policies (Hann 1985, Szurek 1987). Until 1989, the average farm size was only five hectares (ha), and inputs and outputs for Polish agriculture were largely controlled and subsidized by the state with the goal of food self-sufficiency (Zawojska 2010).

Since 1990 and the fall of socialism, these subsidies have been phased out, and Polish farmers have had to integrate into a market economy and adapt to the EU Common Agricultural Policy (CAP). Despite these huge structural changes and a decrease of 11% of the workforce employed in agriculture from 2000-2009, Poland still has the largest agricultural workforce in the EU (Eurostat 2010, Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development 2009).

The average size of agricultural holdings today is 10 ha, with over half of the holdings functioning only or primarily for personal and family use, employing traditional production practices with limited inputs (Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development 2009). Since 1989, there has been an increase in large landholdings (> 20 ha). At the same time, however, there has also been an increase in the number of small landholdings (1-7 ha). Meanwhile, the number of mid-sized farms has decreased due to an inability to compete in the market economy (Dannenburg and Kuemmerle 2010). Today, Poland has the largest agricultural population in the EU. The small landholdings and large population mean agroenvironmental policies have a large impact on rural life, and the size of its population makes changes to Poland's GMO and agrobiodiversity policies significant to the EU.

1.2 Significance of Agroenvironmental Issues

In recent decades an increasing number of agroenvironmental policies have come into effect worldwide. Greater public awareness of issues of resource scarcity, environmental degradation, and population growth have resulted in an increased interest in sustainable agriculture (Altieri 1989). The introduction of GMOs and the development of agrobiodiversity conservation programs have raised questions about how to develop more sustainable agriculture, with GMO supporters presenting them as a way to decrease inputs while GMO opponents maintain that they pose a threat to biodiversity and are unsustainable (Levidow and Boschert 2008, McAfee 2003).

By choosing two topical issues in agroenvironmental policy I hope to illustrate the complexity of the relationship between these issues and show how in Poland a rift between Polish public opinion and the philosophy informing EU policy formation have lead opponents of GMOs and proponents of agrobiodiversity to adopt different advocacy strategies. Furthermore, I seek to demonstrate the ways in which these strategies are and are not effective in Poland.

1.2.1 GMOs as 'Objects of Contention'

I have chosen GMOs and agrobiodiversity as topical issues that have sparked interdisciplinary discussion and debate both globally and in the region (Veteto and Skabo 2009, Muller 2006). Concurrent with the transition in CEE from socialism to EU member states, both issues have been major areas of focus in the agroenvironmental discourse of the academic community, corporations, policy makers, non-state actors, the media and the public for the last twenty years

GMOs refer to organisms in which genetic material has been altered in some way that does not occur naturally and allows for selected individual genes to be transferred from one organism to another and also to a nonrelated species (WHO 2002). Genetic modification is also used for industrial and medical purposes, but in the context of this

paper I will be referring to "green" or agricultural GMOs. Most GMOs used in agriculture today have been developed to be resistant to pests and/or to increase yields.

GMOs were first introduced commercially in 1996 and have provoked controversy and debate worldwide. The debate surrounding GMOs involves many actors: scientists, multinational corporations, policy makers, social movements, the media and the public and highlights many societal and political controversies (Heller and Escobar 2003, Mueller 2006). Muller presents GMOs as a 'global object of contention,' provoking debates about risks to human health and the environment, globalization, the ethics of genetic engineering and the role of government in negotiating these conflicts. In this paper, I will not be discussing the scientific debates surrounding GMOs in detail but will be considering the discourse surrounding GMOs and the policies that have developed to regulate their use.

1.2.2 Conservation of Agrobiodiversity

Agrobiodiversity refers to "the genetic variation between the species, breeds cultivars and individuals of animal, plant and microbial species that have been domesticated, often including their immediate wild relatives" (Heywood 1995). Since the 1900s, 90 % of the worlds' crop species have been lost and half of the species of domestic animals have been lost as farmers shift to genetically uniform high-yielding varieties (FAO 2004). The acknowledgement of the rapid loss of agrobiodiversity has led to government programs and campaigns to protect the species that remain.

The conservation of agrobiodiversity is not as contentious as the issue of GMOs, but it remains a multi-faceted concept that uses traditional practices and local varieties to promote biodiversity (Altieri and Merrick 1987, Jarvis *et al.* 2000). As a valued aspect of biodiversity, international bodies and national governments have developed policies to conserve agrobiodiversity. Indeed, the global debate over agrobiodiversity has been focused less on whether or not agrobiodiversity should be preserved and more over what the most effective strategies are for doing this.

Agrobiodiversity can be conserved in two main ways – *ex-situ* (in gene banks) and *in-situ* (on-farm). While *ex-situ* conservation is important to prevent the permanent loss of species and to preserve genetic resources, *in-situ* conservation conserves processes of evolution and adaptation at all levels of biodiversity and maintains provisions for ecosystem services, making the practice incredibly valuable (Jarvis *et al.* 2000, Brush 2000, Maxsted, *et al.* 1997).

Through the use of traditional plant and animal varieties and sustainable methods of agriculture communities and ecosystems benefit through maximized production from marginal lands, managing levels of risk and uncertainty, and increased self-sufficiency of farmers without use of purchased inputs (Altieri 1987, Jarvis 1999).

At the same time, however, the conservation of agrobiodiversity is threatened by increased use of GMOs as they create monocultures and can lead to contamination (Levidow and Boschert 2008), highlighting the complex interplay between the two issues.

1.3 Political Ecology

Political ecology serves as a broad interdisciplinary framework that is used to describe political, economic and social factors and their interaction with environmental issues. The variety of definitions and usages of the term reveals the complexities of the discipline as well as the situations to which political ecology is applied (Robbins 2004). Political ecology can be contrasted with 'apolitical ecology' as it regards 'science' in an environmental context as socially and politically situated rather than unambiguous or objective (Robbins 2004, Stott and Sullivan 2000).

Most of the work in this field has focused on developing countries, but there is a growing literature that focuses on CEE, as the countries in this region work to develop environmental narratives that resonate with populations that come from a legacy of occupation and communism and have now emerged into a world that is now dominated by Western aid and influence (Aistara 2009, Schwartz 2005, Mincyte 2011, Franklin 2002). By examining current debates surrounding agrobiodiversity and anti-GMO campaigns in Poland I will show how Western narratives have shaped legislation and perceptions. In doing so I will also reveal some of the ways that these imported perceptions are difficult to apply to the Polish context and CEE more broadly.

Since the end of communism in 1989, Eastern Europe has had an influx of Western aid

directed towards the environmental sector. With this aid come donors' narratives of nature and the role humans play within it (Stott and Sullivan 2000, Schwartz 2005). Stout and Sullivan address the ways that the "creation, legitimization and contestation of environmental narratives," and the control over those narratives translates into power over land and natural resources. Despite the incongruities of these narratives with local conceptions of nature, the acceptance of Western aid leads countries to adopt Western narratives and visions of how environmental protection and sustainability should become manifest (Gorton *et al.* 2005, Stott and Sullivan 2000).

Following the fall of socialism, Poland and its neighbors underwent a rapid series of political and economic transitions that changed the political landscape (Bruszt 2008, Verdery 1996). At the same time, they worked quickly to take advantage of an inflow of international aid and undertook ambitious environmental reforms. This led first to the adoption and ratification of a number of international treaties, complete with national strategies and action plans (e.g. the Convention on Biological Diversity, International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources).

Following this came the prospect of EU accession, which required the rapid harmonization of national environmental law to meet the conditions of the *acquis communitaire* (the EU body of law). Nevertheless, swift formal adoption of new policies that comply with international and supranational legislation has not fully aligned Western and local narratives of how nature should be managed, and indeed, the implementation and interpretation of these laws continues to vary widely as a result of differences in

national history and politics (Bruszt 2008, Gorton, Lowe and Zellei, 2005, Jehliâka and Tickle, 2004). This is further complicated by the fact that these Western and international narratives, shaped by relationship with other actors and the development of further scientific research, are themselves continually evolving (Stogstad 2008, Vogler 1999). The nature of the relationship between the EU and member states reveals the power play between supranational and national government, especially in CEE where states did not play a negotiating role in the development of the *acquis* and are still not powerful members in developing policy. This is especially relevant when it is considered that Poland, with no little input the development of the current CAP has the largest rural population in the EU.

Strength of the political ecology framework lies in its ability to incorporate concepts from a wide range of disciplines, all using difficult approaches that when combined bring perspective and nuance to the complex reality of environmental issues. While working under the umbrella of political ecology, I will examine the political, cultural, and societal factors that are at play in the development of laws, public opinion and campaigns surrounding the issues of GMOs and agrobiodiversity.

After introducing my methods I will discuss the laws and campaigns to oppose GMOs and conserve agrobiodiversity in three sections. In Chapter 3, I introduce the laws regarding these issues and the way they have formed through negotiations between levels of government addressing the question: How do citizens, non-state actors, local, regional, national and supranational actors negotiate to shape policy on GMOs and agrobiodiversity? Next, in Chapter 4 I examine the way that societal beliefs and values are mobilized by campaigns to shape policies asking: How do global narratives surrounding agrobiodiversity and GMO campaigns resonate differently with Polish peoples' understanding of the role of humans and nature in the environment? Then in Chapter 5, I discuss the concept of social capital and the way campaigns operate in the context of post-socialist Poland by asking: How have the social networks formed throughout and following socialism adapted throughout transition and how does this impact the effectiveness of current agroenvironmental campaigns? In the conclusion, I will highlight what strategies have been effective in opposing GMOs and conserving agrobiodiversity in Poland and what this indicates about the formation of agroenvironmental laws in Poland and the region.

2. Methodology

2.1 Motivation

Sustainable agriculture and CEE Europe are long held interests of mine and I came to Hungary for my graduate studies for this reason. My background in political science motivated by an interest in social issues led me to study environmental issues, especially those pertaining to agriculture, where I can explore my political, social and ecological interests.

I first visited Poland for four week in July 2010 as a volunteer in the Worldwide Workers on Organic Farms (WWOOF) program. During this time I learned about both the practical day-to-day lives of organic farmers and also about their interaction with each other, the government and their communities. This inspired me to further explore the history and culture that have resulted in such vibrant rural communities. I was curious to understand the strategies and motivations of campaigns opposing GMOs and promoting the conservation of agrobiodiversity, two issues that seemed linked in my mind but disjointed in Polish legislation and perception. I also wanted to explore the way these issues interact in a state with such a resilient history of small individual farms. My research was based on qualitative research, literature review, discourse analysis and my experience as an observer. The specific research methods chosen are elaborated below.

2.1.1 Literature Review

My theoretical framework is situated in political ecology, as described in the introduction, because this framework allows me to explore the interactions between political, social and environmental issues. By examining the issues of GMOs and

agrobiodiversity through the frameworks of multi-level governance, framing, and social capital, I was able to elaborate on the political, cultural and social aspects of these issues in the Polish context. Literature was consulted regarding these issues at global, regional and national levels when available.

2.1.2 Data Collection

In July 2010, as a volunteer in the WWOOF program, I carried out a preliminary research visit to Poland. During that time I lived and worked on two farms – Eco-Frontiers Ranch in southeast Poland (Czarny Gorna) and Grzybow Farm, headquarters of the Ziarno Association near Warsaw (Grzybow). During this time I learned about the day-to-day processes on a farm as well as some of the beliefs and values of organic farmers I met.

While I learned a lot during this visit I was left with questions of what the interaction of agroenvironmental campaigns with the government looked like, how farmers organized to facilitate change and what their motivations were, and how Polish people worked to preserve their unique culture and heritage while engaging in agroenvironmental discourses.

In March 2011, I returned to Poland hoping to answer some of these questions. Using the contacts established during my preliminary visit and my participation in the 'Let's Liberate Diversity' conference in Szeged, Hungary (February 24-26, 2011) I interviewed activists from the three primary organizations working on anti-GMO and conservation of agrobiodiversity campaigns as well as activists working on the same issues in other organizations and farmers both affiliated and unaffiliated with the campaigns.

The primary groups interviewed were the International Coalition to Protect the Polish Countryside (ICPCC), Dla Dawnych Odiman i Ras/Association for Old Varieties and Breeds (DDOiR), and Społeczny Instytut Ekologiczny/Social Ecological Institute (SIE). These groups were selected as primary actors in the campaigns discussed. ICPPC has been a galvanizing force in the campaign against GMOs, DDOiR is the only Polish group working specifically on agrobiodiversity and SIE has been involved in both campaigns. Representatives of Heifer International, Ziarno Association and EKOLAND, the Association of Organic Food Producers, were also interviewed on the basis of personal recommendation and for their work related to anti-GMO or conservation of agrobiodiversity campaigns. Farmers interviewed were determined through personal connections and introductions with the goal of representing a wide range of actors.

My diverse pool of interviewees were located throughout central and southern Poland with interviews taking place in Stryszow, Miechow, Grzybow, Male Lezno, Pokrzydowo, and Warsaw, Poland.

During this visit I was a participant observer in daily activities of farmers and activists spending time at three farms, interviewing members of six organizations that work on the issues and nine farmers, both affiliated and unaffiliated with the campaigns. Personal observations, experiences and reflection are also included.

2.1.3 Interviews

My primary method of data collection was through interviews with leaders of my three primary organizations, other activists working on rural issues, and farmers. Primary interviewees were contacted through website contacts as well as through contacts established during my first trip to Poland (summer 2010) and people I met at the 'Let's Liberate Diversity' conference in Szeged, Hungary (February

24-26, 2011). Further interviewees were selected based on 'snowball sampling' (Marshall 1996) where established contacts introduced me to other actors and farmers. Most interviews were semi-structured and lasted between 30-90 minutes, while other interviews were informal conversations that took place for example while feeding goats or eating meals together.

Qualitative research and is valuable because it allows us to strive to understand the experience of others and the meaning they make of those experiences and because the social world doesn't exist independent of individual subjective understandings, (Seidman 1998, Ritchie and Lewis 2003). In researching the perceptions, campaigns, and strategies of agroenvironmental groups in Poland, it was necessary for me to use qualitative research to better understand personal experiences and motivations and how those shaped the interviewees' experiences.

Interviewees were asked for oral consent and given information sheets on the nature of the project. English speaking individuals who were involved with the campaigns or introduced to me by interviewees served as translators. All subjects have been given pseudonyms when quoted.

2.1.4 Discourse Analysis

The websites and publications produced by the organizations studied served as a source of detailed information on specific of campaigns. The qualitative analysis of this public information was especially useful in examining the discourse and strategies used to frame the issues for the public and was useful for me as official documents open up new sources of understanding while being subjective in nature (Taylor and Bogdan 1984).

Discourse analysis allows an elaboration of the ways that actions are socially constructed, assuming all objects and actions to be meaningful (Jorgenson and Phillips 2002, Hawarth and Stravrakakis 2000). Discourses, defined as a "series of meaningful practices that form the identities of subjects and objects" (Hawarth and Stravrakakis 2000) reveal the social consequences of different social actions (Burr 1995).

When examining objects such as GMOs or genetic resources (in agrobiodiversity) in a social context requires discourse analysis to discuss the significance of these objects. The actions of campaigns and their motivations also shape the discourse and define the meaning of the objects within society. By using history, laws, interviews, observations, websites, and publications I have examined the discourse surrounding these issues to discuss the way these issues are interpreted by Polish society.

2.2 Limitations

As is always the case, limitations were present in this study. The primary limitation was time as interviewees were located in villages throughout rural Poland. Accommodating the schedules of interviewees within the research period limited the amount of people with whom I was able to speak as well as the amount of time spent with each organization or community. Another important limitation was language. While most of my interviewees were kind enough to accommodate my very limited knowledge of the Polish language, communication barriers prevented me from interviewing some people in-depth. Understanding the limitations of language, translators were used whenever possible, allwoing me to speak with farmers with whom I would not have been able to communicate otherwise.

2.3 Overview

Through research based on literature review, qualitative analysis of interviews, discourse analysis and my experience as an observer I will hope to add to an understanding of the subjective factors that influence and motivate campaign organization and effectiveness in anti-GMO and conservation of agrobiodiversity campaigns in Poland. I also hope to highlight similarities between these campaigns and other campaigns in the region while exploring the specific context that makes the Polish situation unique.

3 Deliberation in Formation of Agroenvironmental Policies

The process of EU enlargement has led to new forms of governance that require new frameworks for analysis. The concept of multi-level governance was originally described as a "system of continuous negotiation among nested governments at several territorial tiers-supranational, national, regional and local" but is now used to describe relations in the EU more generally with the term being used by EU decision makers and in official EU publications (Marks *et al.* 1996, Hooghe and Marks 2003.)

The EU is involved in an ongoing process of widening and deepening. Widening refers to the expansion to include new member states and deepening refers to the breadth of policies (such as the inclusion of social and environmental policy) governed by the EU instead of national governments. As the European Union deepens, individual states are forced to cede power to supranational authorities but also encouraged to increase the autonomy of regional authorities and participation of non-state actors (Bruszt 2008, Hooghe and Marks 2003). The study of interactions between these actors is new and constantly evolving, along with the EU itself. Enlargement has resulted in new discourses about the role of the EU, legitimacy of EU authority and autonomy of member states (Stogstad 2008, Bruszt 2008).

By examining the development of agroenvironmental legislation in Poland I hope to illustrate the interactions and conflicts that result from negotiations between levels in multi-level governance by asking the following question:

How do citizens, non-state actors, local, regional, national and supranational actors negotiate to shape policy on GMOs and the conservation of agrobiodiversity? I will highlight differences in decision-making and implementation specific to two agroenvironmental issues by examining the negotiations between levels of government, from the interaction between international bodies and the EU, through to national and local policies in Poland. I will argue that anti-GMO campaigns have used strong local support as a basis to pass strict regional and national bans but due to conflicts with the EU and difficulties establishing enforcement mechanisms these have not been implemented. In contrast, I will argue that policies promoting agrobiodiversity originate in international treaties and EU legislation and while these policies have been transposed nationally, implementation is difficult as environmental policy often conflicts with economic factors and is met with societal reluctance.

3.1. Multi-level Governance

The development of EU environmental policy has been examined using the framework of multi-level governance by a number of scholars (Kurzer and Cooper 2007, Jehlicka and Tickle, 2004, Falkner 2005). However, an understanding of environmental policy in the CEE countries as the EU widens requires a new approach (Jehlicka and Tickle, 2004). As a result, a new discourse is emerging to address the specific obstacles to governance present in post-socialist states (Sikor 2005, Gatzweiler 2005, Jehlicka and Tickle, 2004). This discourse is necessary as the decision-making process in these countries is

complicated by socialist histories and the speed with which they worked to adopt the *acquis communitaire* or EU body of law (Gorton, Lowe and Zellei 2005, Zellei 2001).

Instead of developing over time as a process of negotiation, CEE countries hastily adopted policies already established (Bruszt 2008, Zellei 2001). While the goal of legal harmonization was reached as a condition of accession, the forms of multi-level governance adopted and the laws themselves differ 'not in degree but kind' (Bruszt 2008). Despite commonalities between these states, such as a history of poor environmental policy and the desire to 'catch up' economically, the process occurs differently in different countries as the result of distinct national characteristics (Jehlicka and Tickle 2000, Gorton *et al.* 2005).

Through the use of incentives, the European Commission has tried to shape reforms in a uniform manner, but actual change has been influenced heavily by domestic histories and preferences, as well as by relations with neighboring states and other EU members (Bruszt 2008, Gorton *et al.* 2005).

The interaction of various levels of government will differ within each country, on a case-by-case basis. By discussing policies developed for two related agro-environmental issues in Poland, I will show how the interactions between different actors can lead to very different outcomes even in the context of one state. The processes of transposition, implementation, and enforcement of anti-GMO and agrobiodiversity legislation reflect resistance to change, varied interpretation of EU principles and the discrepancies between

the legal status and practical implementation of policies. I will introduce some of the primary laws in place and the manner in which they developed in the EU and Poland through a process of negotiation between levels.

3.2. GMO Legislation in the EU and Poland

GMO legislation has developed through a series of negotiations by local, regional, national and supranational bodies. Both the EU and Poland have constantly adapted policies over the course of time to respond to the interests of various parties. The EU has had to respond to the preferences of member states as well as international bodies, whereas the Polish government must respond to constituents and the developing legislation of the EU.

3.2.1. Development of GMO Regulation in the European Union

Since their conception, the EU has been developing policy to regulate the use of GMOs within member states. Within each member state, GMOs are received differently, with different actors - including citizens, non-governmental organizations (NGOs), corporations, and local, regional and national governments, taking part in the negotiation of policies.

These negotiations shape the specific position of each state regarding the issue of GMOs as well as the amount of regulatory authority members are willing to cede to supranational bodies (Kurzer and Cooper 2007, Stogstad 2008). Between the various

states, another process of negotiation must occur to develop EU policy, which must then be positioned globally to comply with international agreements such as obligations to the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) and the World Trade Organization (WTO). This has led to an evolving EU stance on GMOs that both determined and is determined by the preferences of individual states.

Since GMOs were introduced in the market in 1996, regulatory bodies have developed laws to manage their use. The United States (US) quickly embraced this new technology, regulating GMOs in the same manner as other conventional seeds employing the concept of "substantial equivalence" based on the concept that if a food is substantially equivalent in composition and nutritional value then it can be regulated in the same manner as the conventional food (SOT 2003). The EU has taken a different approach, invoking the precautionary principle. This approach requires new technology to be examined with skepticism and indicates less willingness to have scientists as the sole authority in their regulation (Gaskell *et al.* 1999, Stogstad 2008). Additionally, as a body of 27 states, the EU must negotiate between national positions on GMOs.

Regulation of GMOs began at the EU level in 1990, with Directive 90/220/EC on the deliberate release of GMOs at the same time some member states were beginning to draft national legislation. In 1990, MON810, a variety of GM maize was approved despite the opposition of all but one member state (Stogstad 2008). Member states as well as farm, consumer and environmental groups who were unhappy with this pressed for more strict regulation at the same time that international negotiations on the Cartegena Protocol on

Biosafety were taking place (Bradley 1998, Meyer 2007). The negotiations between levels resulted in a change in approach, and by 1999, the EU had developed policies resulting in a *de facto* moratorium (Meyer 2007).

In April 2001, with the approval of Directive 2001/18/EC on the deliberate release of GMOs, (repealing the previous Directive) a procedure was developed for the deliberate release of GMOs and their introduction to the market. Consent could be granted for individual products after being assessed on a case-by-case basis, by the European Food and Safety Authority (EFSA) with compulsory monitoring schemes put into place. Public consultation and labeling of GMO products were also required as a response to demands from lower levels, such as member states.

Adjusting policy to the preferences of lower levels resulted in conflicts with international actors, however. In May 2003, the US along with Canada, Argentina and other third-parties challenged the EU at the WTO, claiming that the EU policies were unjustly affecting agricultural and food imports.

In the three years it took for the WTO to reach a decision, the EU continued to pass stricter regulation on GMOs. The Cartegena Protocol on Biosafety was transposed into EU law (Regulation EC No 1946/2003), stricter labeling requirements were adopted (Regulation EC No 1829/2003 and No 1830/2003) and recommendations were given regarding national coexistence legislation (Recommendation 2006/556/EC). When the WTO finally reached decision they did not explicitly state that bans cannot be adopted

but instead criticized the risk assessments employed by EU member states demanding that bans be based on scientific knowledge of risks (Meyer 2007, Stogstad 2008).

Legislation on GMOs in the EU is still in the process of changing to respond to the actors involved. The high resistance to GM crops in a number of member states contrasted with their use and adoption in others, coupled with international pressure to open markets has resulted in a situation where the EU has preceded cautiously in the development of regulation towards GMOs. Policy is still evolving, however and in March 2010, the EU approved decisions on five GM crops. This came at the same time as an announcement that a new authorization system is being developed that will allow member states more freedom in deciding whether or not to cultivate GMOs on their territory (EUROPA 2010).

3.2.2. Regulation of GMOs in Poland

Polish legislation regarding GMOs has been developed along with and in opposition to EU policy – subject to supranational bodies, as well as the preferences of the Polish public. By examining three main laws regarding GMOs in Poland, I will show that despite the strong anti-GMO stance taken by the Polish government at the insistence of the public, resistance to change, different interpretations of EU legislation and difficulties in implementation have made these laws ineffective.

Official legislation regarding GMOs was first adopted in 1997 and went into effect in 1999, five years before Poland's entry into the EU and soon after the first shipment of

GMOs reached Europe in 1996. This legislation was intended to create regulations regarding direct release, introduction to the market, monitoring and labeling of products containing GMOs. However, according to even the Ministry of the Environment the regulation was "just a paper tiger" with field trials taking place and unlabelled GM feed being imported (ANPED 2000, Meyer 2007). This lax enforcement spurred the response of community organizations and NGOs who called for tougher regulation and labeling requirements.

NGOs and community groups organized campaigns to restrict the use of these products. Initially this took the form of the adoption of voluntary "GMO-free" declarations. The first ban consisted of eleven farmers in the Małopolska region of Podkarpackie province during August 2004, and developed into a ban throughout the province (Meyer 2007). After achieving local success higher levels were targeted. Aiming at provinces' administration and politicians, a nationwide campaign led by ICPPC was launched and in February 2006, after only twenty months of campaigning, all sixteen provinces of Poland had adopted GMO-free declarations (ICPPC 2006). Using the momentum behind the regional campaigns pressure was put on national government to draft legislation.

As a result of public outcry and the need to harmonize national law with EU Directives, the Polish parliament adopted several laws regarding GMOs establishing the conditions for contained use and banning sale of seed and feed. These laws were intended to present a clear message of the Polish position against GMOs. To understand how the Polish government attempted to enact strict regulations on GMOs and why that has not been more effective, I will now describe the laws established, the challenges of these laws by the EU, and inadequacies in implementation and enforcement.

There are three main laws I will discuss that have been adopted to regulate the use of GMOs in Poland:

- Act of 22 June 2001 on Genetically Modified Organisms (Act on GMOs): adopted to harmonize national legislation with EU Directive 2001/18/EC, created a committee of ministers, scientists and representatives of industry and civil society responsible for advising the Minister of Environment on decisions concerning the release, use, marketing, export and transit of GMOs.
- Law of the 27 April 2006 Revision of Seed Law and Plant Protection Law (Seed Law): prohibited the import of GM seeds to Poland and excluded GM seeds and plants from being listed in the national plant record.
- Law of 22 August 2006 on animal feed (Feed Law): prohibited the production, sale and marketing of GM animal feed.

I will now elaborate on the formation of these laws through negotiations of actors at various levels. I will consider the government's different interpretations of EU legislation, resistance to systemic change, and the difficulties of implementation to highlight the challenges faced by Poland and other CEE countries as they develop policies to regulate the use of GMOs.

3.2.2.1. Interpreting EU Directives

As mentioned Poland has adopted the EU environmental *acquis* as part of the accession process and this has included transposing EU Directives on GMOs. The Polish Act on GMOs is the main law designed to regulate "contained use" by establishing an advisory board to make decision regarding and regulate the use of GMOs. The EU has recently challenged the implementation of this law, however. According to the EU the Polish implementation fails to require all field trials to be reported to national authorities and lacks mechanisms to properly assess and classify potential risk. While Poland has drafted a revision to the Law on GMOs, the Council is still not satisfied due to the lack of a coherent timeline. This case was referred to the European Court of Justice in March 2011. The EU is also unsatisfied with regulatory measures to record, monitor, and control which are included in the Polish transposition of the legislation but have not been implemented.

Despite transposition into national law, the Polish Law on GMOs has been ineffective. Polish authorities lacked decision-making power in the formation of these laws and were required to adopt legislation that was drafted through negotiations of member states before the time of accession. This situation reflects how one Directive can have many interpretations (Gorton *et al.* 2005) as well as the lag in implementation common in CEE, especially with regards to environmental legislation (Falkner and Treib 2003, Zellei 2001).

Poland has also repeatedly come into conflict with the EU regarding the passage of Polish laws that violate EU Directives in the forms of the Seed and Feed Laws. The passage of the Seed Law, which banned the marketing and sale of GMOs in Poland was referred to the ECJ by the EU which claimed that by banning all GMOs for all time, Poland was not adhering to EU procedures on "contained release" found in Directive 2001/18/EC. According to Article 23, known as the 'safeguard clause,' individual member states may restrict or prohibit the use or sale of individual GM products but this must be done on a case-by-case basis justified by risks to human health or the environment. Poland's proposed ban does meet these criteria and the ECJ supported the EC in their decision made in July 2009.

Like the Seed Act, the Animal Feed law has also been challenged by the EU. By attempting to ban the marketing of GM feed at a national, rather than EU level, the EC claims the law violates Regulation 1829/2003/EC which created a single authorization procedure for imports throughout the EU based on independent risk assessments (for each specific product) carried out by the EFSA. By circumventing this provision the EC has found Poland to be creating a legal uncertainty and breaching its obligations under EU law. The case was submitted to the ECJ in March 2010 and a decision has not yet been reached.

Both of the Polish laws banning GMOs violate EU regulations, which was clear even at the time of adoption. Whether the Polish government was trying to pass effective legislation, appease the public, or change EU policy regarding GMOs is unclear. This could be an example, like the implementation of LEADER where officials are misunderstanding EU principles, or it could be an example of the Polish government's reluctance to take a strong stance preferring to create regulations that are unenforceable (Furmankiewicz, *et al* 2010). In an interview with the Warsaw Business Journal, Professor Andrzej Aniol, a member of the Polish committee to regulate GMOs, said Polish authorities prefer leaving the decision-making regarding GMOs in the hands of the EU as it absolves them of responsibility (4 October 2010).

3.2.2.2 Resistance to Change

The Polish central government has a strong history of retaining power, even throughout socialism (Hann 1985). This has been reflected in the adoption of laws that maintain control at the national level or can be overseen by national authorities (Furmankiewicz, *et a.l* 2010, Gorton *et al.* 2005). As a result of retained autonomy during socialism, many of the decision-makers and institutions from that period remained even after the change of government in 1989 (Furmankiewicz, *et al* 2010). While the continuity in the power structure made adoption of the *acquis* a swift process it also led to the formulation of policy that reflected a reluctance to make systemic change.

While the campaign to persuade all regions to declare themselves GMO-free in 2004 was a success, these declarations lacked legal force, as provinces and regions do not possess the authority to make decisions regarding GMOs and this is a matter of central government under Polish law (Meyer 2007). Using the momentum behind the GMO campaign, however, regional authorities pressed national representatives to draft legislation in the form of the Seed Act and Feed Act. While opposition to GMOs was strong several years ago, the series of legal disputes, a growing pro-GMO lobby and a change of the Minister of Environment along with other key officials have caused shifts in the debate. Just two weeks before the ban on GM feed was to be implemented the date was postponed until 2013 as the result of the lobbying efforts of a coalition of Polish and U.S. trade associations (Meyer 2007). Although legislation was passed nationally the government was been slow to implement these new laws indicating the central government's reluctance to engage in systemic change that shares decision-making with lower levels of government. The conflict with the EU over implementation of supranational Directives further reflects the hesitancy of the Polish government to enforce new laws, which is further illustrated by the lack of implementation.

3.2.2.3 The Difference Between the Legal and the Actual

While laws regulating the release and use of GMOs have been passed, implementation is virtually non-existent. Despite Poland's strong stance against GMOs in the form of voluntary GMO-free zones and legislative attempts to prohibit their use, there are an estimated 3000 ha of unauthorized GM planting in Poland (Noisette 2008).

When the Seed Act was passed it felt like a "big victory" to members of ICPPC who interpreted the ban as a success but this feeling was short-lived as they soon realized that only sale and marketing had been explicitly prevented, not cultivation. The Seed Law contained a loophole that undermined its effectiveness – while prohibiting the sale, and marketing of GM crops it did not specifically prohibit planting. This loophole is made explicit in a USDA document which states "According to a Polish government contact, the legislation does not ban the planting of biotech seed varieties registered in the EU seed catalogue and purchased outside Poland" (USDA 2006) and implies that Polish legislators intentionally left this option open to weaken the legislation.

Using this caveat, representatives from Monsanto and the Polish Lobby Association for Biotechnologies offered farmers addresses and contact details of GMO seed suppliers in Slovakia and Czech Republic resulting in the estimated 3000 ha of GM crops, a number which has remained static following a tenfold increase in known GM cropland in 2007 (infoMG 2008, FOE 2011). It is unknown to what extent GMOs are currently present in Poland and specific information is difficult to find. According to the Info Center on Genetically Modified Organisms (infOMG) Poland is both a country that allows the planting of MON810 and has banned it. Additionally, despite the pending Feed Ban, all imported feed in Poland, unless marked otherwise, contains GMOs according to the people I spoke with at ICPPC.

Despite the passage of legislation more progressive than that of the EU the Polish government has failed to implement these laws and has not even established the regulatory mechanisms necessary to monitor known plantings. This renders all laws prohibiting GMOs ineffective and the remain just "paper tigers."

3.2.3 The Current State of GMO Regulation

After passing some of the most stringent anti-GMO legislation in the world, Poland seems to have lost its momentum in the campaign against GMOs. The laws adopted by the Polish government were far-reaching and extensive, attempting to ban all GM crops and imported feed, indefinitely, but this has not happened. Instead Poland is left with voluntary bans and laws in the process of being challenged with very little in the way of enforcement mechanisms. The inability of regional government to pass anti-GMO legislation under Polish law is an example of the central government's reluctance to engage in systemic change that shares decision-making with lower levels of government.

The motivations of the government in the passage of the Seed and Feed Laws, which clearly violated EU Directives is curious. This could be an example, like the implementation of LEADER where officials are misunderstanding EU principles, or it could be an example of the Polish government's reluctance to take a strong stance (Furmankiewicz, *et al* 2010).

While the central government seems intent at preventing decision making at higher (EU) or lower (regional) levels, they have failed to create mechanisms for implementation and enforcement of the nationally adopted laws on GMOs, Seed Act and Feed Ban. Despite the laws passed and ECJ cases, the extent of GMOs being cultivated is still unknown, highlighting the divide between the legal status and realities of implementation.

Accountable to EU harmonization policy, the Polish national government has ceded a large amount of control regarding their ability to regulate genetically modified crops and has come into conflict with the European Commission on several occasions as result. The EU and Poland are both adapting laws continually, representing the process of negotiation between levels, but complicating the development of mechanisms for implementation. When I spoke with a leader of ICPPC about their campaigns against GMOs, she felt that the original GMO-free declarations indicated an interest in promoting traditional agriculture, by both farmers and regional authorities. In her opinion, public opinion remains anti-GMO but powerful political forces consisting of corporations, and politicians and scientists influenced by corporations, are using their money and resources to sway the debate. It has become obvious to her that even when legislative battles are won, success could only come with proper implementation and a commitment by leaders. Currently, ICPPC is working on proposing a 10 year moratorium on GMOs, but even if successfully such a moratorium would again violate current EU Directives.

At all levels, from local communities to supranational bodies, attitudes towards GMOs are debated and in flux. Currently it is unknown what stance Poland or the EU will take in the future. Regardless, the examination of the interactions between levels in this case reveals many of the complications of multi-level governance. Despite the hesitancy of the Polish people to embrace GMOs and the highly organized and focused efforts of campaigns to encourage legislation limiting and controlling the use of GMOs, the

interests of politicians and lobbyists at the national and supranational levels have taken precedence.

3.3. Agrobiodiversity legislation in the EU and Poland

Agro-biodiversity is a multi-faceted issue. Efforts to conserve agro-biodiversity are entwined with traditional farming practices, cultural values, organics and environmental policies encouraging reduction of inputs, better land management, and conservation (Jarvis *et al.* 2000). I have shown that anti-GMO policy is the result of public outcry and action from lower levels of government. I will now show how agrobiodiversity policy is shaped through international agreements that are transposed into EU and then national law.

I will argue that policies promoting agro-biodiversity originate in international treaties and EU legislation, rather than at the grass-roots level. While these policies have been transposed nationally, implementation is difficult, as environmental policy often conflicts with economic factors and is met with societal reluctance

3.3.1 EU

The CBD, developed in 1992, aims to conserve biodiversity through the sustainable use of its components while developing equitable benefit sharing of genetic resources. While the CBD provided a starting point for the protection of plant genetic resources, it included few specific provisions for agriculture, had a narrow scope, and lacked adequate funding to meet its stated goals (Frisvold and Condon 1998). This led to the development of the FAO Global Plan of Action for the Conservation and Sustainable Utilization of Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture (FAO GPA), which was incorporated, into the International Treaty in 1996 and includes more specific provisions for the *in-situ* and *ex-situ* conservation of plant genetic resources in agriculture. The European Union's interpretation of Agricultural Biodiversity includes all elements of biological diversity 1) of relevance to food and agriculture and 2) constituting the agro-ecosystem (European Commission on Agriculture and Biodiversity 2010). The EU adopted a Biodiversity Action Plan for Agriculture in 2001. The Action Plan was designed to coordinate with international agreements such as the CBD, and the FAO GPA.

Using CBD and GPA as a basis, the priorities of the EU Action Plan include the promotion and support of environmentally friendly farming practices that benefit biodiversity directly or indirectly, support for sustainable farming activities in biodiversity-rich areas and the maintenance and enhancement of good ecological infrastructures, and promotion of actions to conserve local or threatened livestock breeds or plant varieties. The Action Plan is designed to facilitate coordination between member states, and seventeen main projects have been carried out since 2007 six of which involved Poland.

Some specific directives to encourage conservation of agrobiodiversity include Regulation 1467/94/EC (replaced by 870/2004) on conservation, characterization, collection and utilization of genetic resources and Directive 2008/62/WE designed to simplify registry of local varieties. Despite the recent development of policies aimed at

the conservation of agrobiodiversity activists throughout the EU are dissatisfied with the force of EU legislation in place, which has led to the widespread emergence of activist networks seeking to fill the gap and conserve as much agrobiodiversity as possible before more is lost.

3.3.2 Poland

Since 1989, agroenvironmental policies in Poland have been shaped largely by international institutions and the EU. While conservation measures regarding agrobiodiversity have been adopted, the number of species continues to decline due to changes in land use and intensification of agriculture, motivated by the economic changes as a result of the shift to a market economy (Sikor 2005).Without a strong negotiating role in the development of CBD or the current CAP, and a responsibility to meet the *acquis*, the preferences of the individual CEE new member states have been largely ignored, as seen in environmental policy throughout the region (Jehlinka and Tickle 2004).

I will argue that, like legislation on GMOs, much of the legislation regarding agrobiodiversity exists on paper but lacks the infrastructure and financial support necessary for these policies to have effective impacts. As a condition of accession, Poland was obliged to adopt EU policies, but as seen with the Nitrates Directive the way that laws have been transposed varies from country to country and is not always effective (Gorton *et al.* 2005).

Environmental protection through sustainable development is promoted in the Constitution of the Republic of Poland, adopted in 1997. These activities fall under the jurisdiction of the Ministry of Environment and are defined in the National Environmental Policy. Elements of the National Environmental Policy that specifically focus on agriculture include: maintenance of diversified agricultural landscapes (focusing on integrated and organic farming) and the preservation of traditional management practices. I will discuss the general laws concerning agro-biodiversity and the ways that Poland has worked to establish itself as a partner in global conservation strategies.

In addition to including sustainable development in their constitution, Poland has developed legislation to meet its obligations regarding agrobiodiversity, both internationally and within the EU. Poland has been a party of the CBD since 1996 and has worked to implement its goals since that time through the adoption of a National Strategy for Conservation and Sustainable Use of Biodiversity. To fulfill obligations to the FAO GPA Poland works to implement the legal framework for the conservation of genetic resources and has developed programs for *in*- and *ex-situ* conservation, working through national bodies and in line with the EU (Bulinska-Radomska et al. 2008). Ex-situ conservation is managed by two bodies: The Plant Breeding and Acclimatization Institute (IHAR) and National Research Institute of Animal Production. In-situ conservation is encouraged primarily through the use of subsidies. A modification of the Seed Act, to bring Polish legislation in line with EU directive 2008/62/WE created subsidies for commodity and seed production of local arable crops, and the maintenance of traditional orchards (Ministry of Environment 2009). By examining the agrobiodiversity legislation it is clear that Polish policies have been developed in a top-down manner.

The National Strategic Plan was prepared to meet Regulation 1698/2005/EC on support for rural development, aimed at strengthening the EU's rural development policy and simplifying it's implementation. Addiotnally, the Rural Development Programme, provides subsidies intended in to reimburse costs or compensate losses incurred through production methods based on environmental principles pursuant to 1698/2005/EC. Currently, certain traditional breeds elicit a subsidy: cows (4 varieties), horses (3 varieties) and sheep (15 varieties). (National Research Institute of Animal Production 2009).

While the Polish government has passed a large body of legislation to address conservation of agrobiodiversity there are still some basic regulatory and implementation mechanisms absent. The protection of high nature value (HNV) farmland, a component of EU rural development policy has not yet been defined by the Polish government (Council of Ministers 2008), making it a difficult thing to protect. Additionally, according to representatives of DDOiR, there is no definition of heritage or traditional breeds or varieties, and for a group working to protect these species, this lack of clarity proves to be a challenge: "We don't know if traditional means pre-war (World War II), post-war or some period before that – what species are we supposed to protect?"

While a number of measures have been put into place to conserve agrobiodiversity and provide economic incentives for this conservation the strategies so far are underfunded and undeveloped especially when confronted with economic pressures that make maintenance of small landholdings difficult. Falling crop prices and growing off-farm employment opportunities push farmers to intensive land or abandon it and conservation of agro-biodiversity must be adequately funded if the rapid loss is to be slowed (Zellei 2001, Pascual and Perring 2007).

3.4 Costs of Accession

While multi-level governance is defined as a "process of negotiation" (Marks and Hooghe 1996) the conditions of accession for new member states has involved a loss of control in determining state-specific agroenvironmental policies (Jehlinka and Tickle 2001). I have shown that in the cases of anti-GMO and agrobiodiversity legislation the Polish government has been forced to sacrifice decision-making power and when, as with bans on GMOs, they have attempted to draft more progressive policies they have been overruled. Furthermore, these states often lack the capability to enforce legislation even once it has been transposed making even the legislation adopted largely ineffective (Zellei *et al* 2001).

4. Framing the Issues

In the previous chapter, I discussed laws regarding GMOs and agrobiodiversity in Poland and the EU and the interaction of actors at various levels in the formation of these laws. While this provides a political perspective on the state of these agroenvironmental issues, the debates that lead to policies occur in society and are shaped by the values and beliefs of the specific population. Campaigns, such as those run by ICPPC, SIE and DDOiR, work to mobilize action and their level of success is determined by the extent the discourses they present resonate with the people.

In this chapter, I will introduce the concept of framing and frame alignment to provide structure for describing strategies used by campaigns to resonate with populations and gain support. I will then briefly discuss discourses surrounding agro-biodiversity and GMO campaigns to demonstrate the framing of these issues at a global level. Next, I will situate these discourses in the Polish context. To do this I will use examples from my research as well as literature on similar campaigns in Poland and the region to elaborate on the frames and alignment processes employed by civil society groups in their work to mobilize the public by asking: How do global narratives surrounding agro-biodiversity and GMOs campaigns resonate differently with Polish peoples' understanding of the role of humans and nature in the environment?

In Chapter 2, I introduced the primary organizations working on anti-GMO and conservation of agrobiodiversity campaigns – ICPPC, SIE and DDOiR. I will now assess the attempts of these campaigns to align their discourses with those of the population. I

will examine the beliefs and values held by activists and farmers to describe the types of frame alignment employed and the level of success these campaigns have achieved as a result of their framing strategies.

I will argue that although both campaigns use similar frames in their work, anti-GMO campaigns have mobilized high levels of public support while agrobiodiversity campaigns have had more difficulty resonating with the population. The frames I explore were determined by the beliefs and values expressed to me in interviews and examination of campaign materials. The frames are: conceptions of risk to human health and the environment, national identity and religion, and resistance to globalization. By discussing the values and beliefs expressed by activists and farmers I will argue that agrobiodiversity campaigns are hindered by economic constraints which prevent the level of frame alignment achieved in anti-GMO campaigns, but that resistance to GMOs and conservation of agrobiodiversity both reflect resistance to change and a precautionary approach..

4.1. Frame Alignment

Groups working to promote social and environmental issues will adopt different strategies in order to gain support of the population depending on the specific context. An important tool used by organizations to mobilize participation is framing. According to Goffman (1974: 21) a frame is a "schemata of interpretation" used to "locate, perceive, identify and label" the events that occur in their lives and the world. Frames are composed of "interests, values and beliefs" and provide life occurrences with orientation that is used to give events meaning, organize experiences and motivate action (Snow *et al.* 1986: 464).

To be effective, organizations must be able to link their "activities, goals and ideologies" with the "interests, beliefs and values" of individuals in a process called *frame alignment* (Snow, *et al.* 1986: 464). Snow, et al. (1986) identify four types of frame alignment that are useful alone or in combination, dependent on the circumstances:

1) *frame bridging* – the linkage of two ideologically connected but structurally unconnected frames,

2) *frame amplification* – the clarification or invigoration of interpretative frames that address specific issues or problems,

3) *frame extension* – the extension of the boundaries of a frame to incorporate a wider audience, and

4) *frame transformation* – the redefinition of a frame when existing frames do not resonate with the intended audience (Snow, *et al.* 1986).

Frames can also take different forms: 1) domain-specific - attempts to change views on a specific issue (e.g. consumption patterns, minorities) and 2) global interpretive – radical changes of worldview (Snow *et al* 1986).

This conception of frames and frame alignment is used by a number of scholars to examine the relationships between campaign discourse and the mobilization of participation (Woods 2003, Mincyte 2011, Kurzer and Cooper 2007). I will use these terms to describe the ways that organizations in Poland invigorate public support by working to align their values with the public in discussions surrounding GMOs and agrobiodiversity.

4.2. Discourses on the Issues

All issues are surrounded by discourse motivated by belief and values. In the discourse surrounding agroenvironmental issues these beliefs involve ideas about the environment and people's role in the environment, as well as conceptions of rural identity and its place in society (Gray 2000, Mincyte 2011). At the global level and in Poland discourses surrounding anti-GMO campaigns and the conservation of agrobiodiversity overlap in goals and ideologies and sometimes activities but the frames presented do not always align with the population. I will now outline the discourses globally in order to provide context for the discussion of campaigns in the following sections.

4.2.1 Concerns about GMOs

As I discussed in Chapter 3, GMOs represent a 'global object of contention' provoking debates about human health, the environment, ethics of genetic engineering and globalization (Muller 2006). GMOs have been the cause of protests, petitions, lawsuits and demonstrations around the world. The level of resistance to GMOs and the motivations for opposing them vary widely in different contexts (Muller 2006, Pagis 2006, Kurzer and Cooper 2007). Scholars have examined the different forms of resistance and the underlying frames that motivate action by groups opposed to GMOs (Jasanoff

2005, Gaskell *et al.* 2006). These studies have included comparisons of rapid acceptance of GMOs in the United States compared to the more cautious approach of the EU (Gaskell, *et al.* 1999), the different attitudes and approaches towards GMOs in the EU-15 (Kurzman and Cooper 2007) and motivations of different actors within the same state (Pagis 2006, Harper 2004).

I have found that resistance to GMOs in Poland, like the resistance to GMOs globally, involves a variety of actors, who draw upon different values and perceptions to motivate support. Public support of GMOs in Poland is very low. A survey from 2007 found that over two-thirds of the public had negative opinions of biotechnology; scientists working on biotechnology, and the multi-national companies marketing these products (Lubiatowska-Krysiak and Twardowski 2008). This statistic is especially interesting when contrasted with survey data from 1996 which found 70% of Polish people in favor of GMOs (Lubiatowska-Krysiak and Twardowski 2008). What factors caused public opinion to change so drastically? I will examine the discourses addressing risks to human health and the environment, ethics and religious beliefs, and anti-globalization sentiments to better understand Polish opinion regarding GMOs and the way frames of populations and campaigns align.

4.2.2 Motivating the Conservation of Agrobiodiversity

Discourse surrounding conservation of agrobiodiversity is not filled with contention in the way that anti-GMO discourse is. As mentioned in the introduction, since the 1900s, 90 % of the worlds' crop species have been lost and half of the species of domestic animals have been lost as farmers shift to genetically uniform high-yielding varieties and the acknowledgement of this loss motivated campaigns to prevent further loss (FAO 2004).

Due to factors of land abandonment and agricultural intensification, agrobiodiversity is lost when it is not actively preserved (Young *et al* 2007, Henle *et al* 2008), making these campaigns essential to the conservation of remaining agrobiodiversity. Both of these trends are motivated by economic incentives – people leave the land to go find work in the city or begin farming with industrial methods to increase their yields. In Poland, farms exhibit low profitability (Monroe 2001) and I found that land often goes unattended or is leased to neighbors. However, many families with whom I spoke maintain small plots sometimes as a primary source of income, as additional income (combined with off-farm employment) or for subsistence.

In Europe, where much of the landscape has been shaped through centuries of agricultural use, traditional agricultural practices are an especially important tool for conservation (Bignal and McCracken 2000). CEE countries remain relatively rich in biodiversity due to a variety of geological, historical and economic factors (Young *et al.* 2007). In Poland, due to the continued presence of small family plots (throughout socialism and continuing into the present) (Dannenberg and Kuermmerle 2010) represents a place with special potential for preservation of agrobiodiversity and there has been increased activity in this area recently through the work of groups such as SIE and DDOiR.

In this section I will focus on the values and beliefs that motivate or prevent farmers from adopting practices of *in-situ* conservation focusing on the preservation of tradition and culture for future generations and economic incentives. I will examine discourses of risks to ecosystem health and food security, ethics and religious beliefs and anti-globalization sentiments and the ways these issues interact with economic pressure to better understand Polish opinion on conservation of agrobiodiversity and the way the frames of populations and campaigns align.

4.3 Managing Risk

Risk is defined by Beck (1992: 21) as a "systematic way of dealing with hazards and insecurities induced and introduced by modernization itself." Unlike previous conceptions of risk associated with natural disasters and events outside of human control, Beck (1992) uses this definition to address the way that modern society, through the development of new technologies has created new risks that lead to invisible and irreversible harm defined by the knowledge surrounding them and, thus, are open to social definition (Beck 1992: 23). This kind of risk is posed by the introduction of GMOs and the loss of agrobiodiversity. I will discuss how GMOs, by nature of being a new technology, present potential risks to human health and the environment while loss of agrobiodiversity lead to simplification that creates artificial ecosystems, requiring constant human intervention (Altieri 1994, Stogstad 2008). I will also present ways that Polish people, with a long history of imposed change, are wary of new changes to farming practices introduced from outside.

4.3.1 GMOs as Uncertain Risk

As discussed, GMOs are a new technology and regulations for their use are still evolving. Some risk assessments have been carried out before approval of each product by national authorities to determine effect on human health, but most of these studies have been short-term and long-term effects remain uncertain (Domingo 2007). While it is known that GM crops cause contamination through cross-pollination, the real long-term risks of this are also not understood (Haslberger 2001). As GMOs are released into the environment they develop their own agency because they are alive, but they lack responsibility for that agency. Societies are then required to engage in debate and negotiation to decide which risks are worth taking (Muller 2006). I found that organizations like ICPPC and SIE work to educate the population about these risks to inform this debate and negotiation.

ICPPC uses publications such as such as the Benbrook study (2009) or Jeffrey Smith's "Seeds of Deception" (Smith 2003) and "Genetic Roulette" (Smith 2007) arguing that GM crops do not increase yields or reduce pesticide use. SIE has hosted events, such as the 'Farmer's Tour' where Canadian and American farmers shared their experiences with contamination from GM-crops to serve as a warning for Polish farmers. This discourse of unknown risks resonates with farmers' traditional beliefs. Activists to whom I spoke told me that farmers are often hesitant to try new things, when they are uncertain about the outcomes. One man said to me, "Polish farmers can be stubborn, they can be tough. They

are not always open to new methods. They know what things work and they usually prefer to keep things this way."

Furthermore, ICPPC specifically has used sometimes radical, visual strategies and actions to oppose GMOs, such as a street theater acting out how "Big GMO" tricks Polish villagers by putting on green shirts, or delivery of "mutant" stuffed animals to politicians. These strategies are similar to what Harper observed in Hungary, where "dystopic science fiction" is juxtaposed with "actual scientific products" (2004:486).

Using strong imagery and language is a strategy that Dorota of ICPPC finds powerful, but has this been criticized by most other activists with whom I spoke as "sensationalized and misleading." Another activist working on similar issues told me, "I do think GMOs are the 'big evil' but that's not how we address it because it isn't effective. We want to educate." She believed that ICPPC was playing on peoples' fears instead of expanding their understanding of the issue. Despite their efforts, sensational or not, activists with whom I spoke feel that most people are still not greatly educated on the issue and that this is a hindrance to mobilizing action. While invigorating fear of the unknown through frame amplification can inspire protest and public outcry, the goals of campaigns are to increase understanding, as well as motivate anti-GMO beliefs.

As introduced in Chapter 3, GMO regulation in the EU relies on the precautionary principle. This principle has the aim of requiring decision-makers to take action 'in the event of a potential health risk...without waiting for the risk to be confirmed by scientific evidence' (Noiville 2006). Opponents to GMOs in Europe are skeptical of the risk

assessments carried out by the EFSA and believe that policy regarding this novel technology should be shaped by political debate (Jasanoff 2005). In Europe and in Poland, GMOs are viewed as not useful and a risk to society" (Gaskell et al 2006). These sentiments were expressed to me when I asked Polish farmers about GMOs. Farmers I asked had heard about GMOs but were uncertain. Several people initially told me they had "no opinion" but then quickly added "but they aren't natural" or "they aren't safe." As one woman said "They're better to avoid – I don't know about them and I don't want to try them."

I found that Polish people were also invoking an interpretation of the precautionary principle, or precautionary approach. Their hesitancy towards accepting unknown technology reflected a comfort with methods they were accustomed to and a fear of change. I found that when it comes to the type of non-perceivable risk to human health and the environment posed by GMOs, campaigns have found a high level of public support and alignment through frame bridging. Campaigns, through informing the public of the uncertainty involved (by presenting scientific studies) and the problems experienced by others (such as the Farmers' Tour) were able to resonate with the population. Shock tactics such as those employed by ICPPC have also been effective, but this invigoration of beliefs employs frame amplification. The unknown nature of this new technology is congruent with public sentiments and grievances regarding risk and change, allowing campaigns to mobilize public opinion leading to the development of anti-GMO legislation.

4.3.2 Agrobiodiversity with Potential to Mitigate Risk

The conservation of agrobiodiversity reduces uncertain risk created by reliance on few species with high inputs, as well as and economic risk posed by reliance on single crops with fluctuating prices. Adopting traditional practices reduces the need for inputs, bolsters ecosystem heath and increases food security (Altieri 1994, Brush 1992). For example, a case study in Zimbabwe found groups of women who identified themselves as "keepers of diversity" continued to grow traditional crops in small plots to supplement cash crops grown for market(van Oosterhout 1996). Their motivations were not based on an interest in biodiversity per se, but rather provided a way to ensure food security by planting crops that were drought-resistant, were easy to prepare and stored well. Though the conservation of agrobiodiversity was not the primary goal, the genetic resources of these species were preserved.

In Poland, there have been drastic shifts in farm size since 1989. While the number of large farms has expanded, so has the number of very small farms (between 1 and 2 ha) (Dannenberg 2010, GUS 2001). These small plots provide subsistence basis with food produced for household use. Even the farmers with whom I spoke who had larger plots (about 40 ha) maintained small vegetable plots for personal use. Rural communities in Poland have strong ties to the land and maintained small family plots throughout socialism and this pattern has continued (Szurek 1987, Dannenburg 2010). While some of the farmers saved seed they did so to save money, not in the interest of agrobiodiversity. Additionally, many people maintained Polish animal breeds such as the Green-legged Chicken and Polish Red Cow. When asked why they chose these varieties I was told that these animals needed little care to produce eggs and milk for household use and, in the

case of the Polish Red, farmers were interested in government subsidies associated with this breed.

This indicates that Polish farmers reduce their exposure to risks associated with new varieties and market exposure through the maintenance of local varieties. However, the motivations I found for these practices are largely economic – a way to offset costs and reduce the financial risk associated with intensifying or focusing on one crop or animal. One woman expressed interest in focusing on just one product, such as cattle, but it was too expensive to shift and too risky if prices were to change.

DDOiR and SIE both work to conserve agrobiodiversity but rely on other strategies in their campaigns to motivate support and align goals, such as invigorating national identity, which I will discuss in the next section. While economic risks pertaining to individual households are felt and mitigated by maintaining subsistence agriculture, I found that associated uncertain risks, to ecosystem and human health, are not a concern in the case of agrobiodiversity in the same sense that they were with GMOs, perhaps due to the long-term and invisible nature of risk associated with loss of biodiversity. There is potential for alignment of goals but it would require active frame extension. Campaigns could widen the discourse of ecosystem health to incorporate economic concerns, or work with governments in valuation of ecosystem services to highlight the potential risks – environmentally and economically - if agrobiodiversity is not conserved.

4.4 National Identity and Religion

Polish people are both Slavs and Catholic, an identity they have maintained through occupations and assaults (Hann 1985). This identity has proved very strong even throughout socialism, as they maintained a level of independence from Soviet influences and were able to continue their tradition of small land holdings (60% less of all farms less than 5 ha) despite the goal of collectivization (Szurek 1987, Gorton *et al.* 2005). Polish identity and religion played a role in the end of socialism and the beliefs and values associated with this history of resistance remain strong.

To understand the issues valued by Polish people it is important to understand the roots of their beliefs and identities, as these components shape the *frames* of people's beliefs (Snow *et al.* 1986). Everyone I spoke with in Poland was eager to tell me about how good Polish food was, and how strong the people were. I was told everything from "Polish people are the people who are used to eating good food" to "Polish pigs are the best pigs." In this section I will discuss how national identity and Catholicism, the national religion, have shaped current frames and the ways that organizations have worked to align these values with their campaigns.

Polish identity is strongly tied to Catholicism, and religion has played an important role in political opposition throughout the last century as the Polish nation has defined itself against German Protestantism and Russian Orthodoxy (Borowik 2002). Throughout socialism, and especially since the 1970s, the church served as a 'standard of freedom' and 'shelter for truth' against political censorship (Borowik 2002). As the Church began to speak out for human rights, Pope John Paul II became Poland's first pope andinspired actors in the Solidarity movement (Borowik 2002, Anderson 2003). When visiting Poland I saw images and memorials of the Pope in every village and town I visited, and country roads were lined with altars, highlighting the importance of the Church in the everyday lives of the people

4.4.1.GMOs as Foreign and Unethical

In addition to debates about the human health and environmental risks associated with GMOs, there are also ethical concerns about the morality of transferring genes. The majority of Europeans and Polish people find GMOs "morally unacceptable" (Gaskell *et al* 2006). While this statement is undefined in the work by Gaskell (2006), I found that for Polish people morals are equated with religion and strongly shaped by the Church. Activists understand this connection, and campaigns use discourses of national identity and religion to align frames as these morals can be extended to shape anti-GMO campaigns.

One argument against genetic modification that resonates well with the population comes from the Church. SIE used Catholicism explicitly in their campaigns against GMOs from 2005-2007. Three educational campaigns were conducted targeted at farmers, monasteries and parishes and used statements made by Pope John Paul II such as:

[&]quot;We can only look with deep concern at the enormous possibilities of biological research. We are not yet in a position to assess the biological disturbance that could result from indiscriminate genetic manipulation and from the unscrupulous development of new forms of plant and animal life, to say nothing of unacceptable experimentation regarding the origins of human life itself. It is evident that in any area as delicate as this,

indifference to fundamental ethical norms, or their rejection, would lead humankind to the very threshold of self-destruction." -Pope John Paul II (World Peace Day 1990)

Although the Catholic Church has not taken an official stance on GMOs, Malgorzata from SIE believes that quotes such as that above, from "their Pope," resonate powerfully with the Polish people due to the role Catholicism, and especially Pope John Paul II played in the end of socialism and democratization. By invoking the Church, SIE is easily able to extend the frame of anti-GMO advocates to include the wider Polish population.

Of course, religion is only one aspect of the Polish identity. With a huge rural population, the countryside with its traditions and cuisine are also important components of national identity. I was told again and again about the superiority of Polish food (and fed a lot of it!) during my time there. Dorota told me: "We are a nation that is used to eating good food. Joining the EU has made us victims of big supermarkets but people are realizing it's very bad quality food in supermarkets and so they are looking back to the farms."

By highlighting that GMOs are not Polish and extending the frame to position GMOs as a threat to Polish tradition, campaigns are able to motivate opposition to GMOs. In Poland when I asked farmers why they distrust GMOs, I was told they are "not healthy." When asked what was meant by "healthy" I was told they could *see* these things by looking at their own farms. They felt that their food was superior because they knew where it came from and understood the methods of production used. This indicates that unknown products are associated with uncertain risk and avoided for that reason.

The success of incorporating nation and religion to align perceptions regarding GMOs lies in frame amplification and extension. By invigorating beliefs and extending the boundaries of values that are already strong, such as national pride and morality as defined by the Catholic Church, anti-GMO campaigns can draw on these sentiments without needing to establish a new discourse – a strategy that that influenced the success of their campaigns.

4.4.2 Agrobiodiversity to Maintain Tradition for Future Generations

Agrobiodiversity is not a fixed asset that every person values, rather it is experienced contextually and its value is socially constructed (Rodriguez *et al* 2006). In addition to concerns over food security and ecosystem health, traditional forms of agriculture and local varieties of plants and animals are maintained as a component of cultural identity (Perreault 2005). Even traditional knowledge, practices and varieties maintained are under threat from sociocultural changes, especially in CEE as outmigration occurs and reliance on subsistence agriculture decreases (Birol *et al* 2006, Young *et al*. 2007). While individuals keep traditional varieties for personal use to maintain tradition (such as the maintenance of old orchards) many old varieties are being replaced with new varieties that have higher yields and are more easily sold in the market. Effective economic incentives must be developed to help farmers reduce costs, enhance their viability, and reach markets (Pascual and Perring, 2007).

For the primary groups working on conservation of agrobiodiversity in Poland, DDOiR and SIE, their main motivation is preservation of tradition and culture. Their task is not an easy one. To begin with, Pawel of DDOir, told me there is contention over what "old," "heritage" or "indigenous" means as these terms are not defined in Polish law. One goal of DDOiR involves collecting old books, notebooks and pamphlets in a library to establish what plants and animals were present and when, which is a necessary step to find out what has been lost and to establish the origin of varieties. Currently, Pawel has an orchard of over 400 different varieties of trees. DDOiR is trying to identify and classify these species with the eventual goal of expanding their use and marketing the products.

Pawel told me that working to conserve agrobiodiversity is something he does for his children and, more generally, for the future generations of Polish people. He feels that agrobiodiversity is an important part of Polish identity that represents the resistance of the people to collectivization throughout socialism and the maintenance of tradition despite a series of occupations.

SIE has worked to link agro-biodiversity with religion through a program to reinstate traditional orchards and gardens on monastery grounds. Monasteries historically served as a location for preservation – of texts, religion and plants. By finding a preserved monastery garden from the 1930s, SIE was able to plant and educate about the care of these now rare varieties in fifteen monasteries. By linking agrobiodiversity to the Church, SIE seeks to link the idea of continuity of traditional varieties with that of the church, both symbolically and functionally. For the activists with whom I spoke, protecting biodiversity is a moral responsibility. However, even if farmers value the principles of

agrobiodiversity, economic factors can encourage shifts in practices to the cultivation of high-yield hybrid varieties to meet the demands of the market.

Although campaigns to conserve agrobiodiversity attempt to invigorate and bridge the same beliefs as anti-GMO campaigns, they have had more difficulty. Frame extension or transformation could help to align goals but economic factors must be overcome to enable success. In the next section I will elaborate on the ways that DDOiR and SIE work to develop economic incentives for the conservation of agrobiodiversity.

4.5 Globalization and EU accession

Throughout the 1990s, Poland underwent significant political and economic changes that affected the everyday lives of the people. One result of rapid exposure to market forces was that farmers were pressured to sell or expand and intensify their land (Dannenberg 2010). Meanwhile, environmental and agricultural policies were quickly harmonized to meet conditions of EU accession (Zellei 2001). While CEE had welcomed the end of socialism the transition resulted in many complications. The processes of market integration, EU accession, and exposure to globalization have resulted in some backlash and the view that these factors are a new form of imposition from the outside (Verdery 2003, Harper 2005, Schwartz 2005).

Accession to the EU has involved the adoption of many new laws that dictate how rural communities function, how people can use their land, and regulations that must be followed to meet health and safety regulations (Falkner 2008, Zellei 2001, Young *et al.* 2007).

By examining the framing of GMOs and other environmental issues in her work on Hungary, Harper lends insight to the perceptions of the environment in CEE countries and fears of globalization. She notes that these campaigns address concerns in the region of 'eco-colonialism,' the idea that Western corporations take advantage of the less environmentally aware and developed CEE countries using them as sites for exploitation of natural resources and trials of risky new technologies (Harper 2005).

Farmers with whom I spoke also felt they were being taken advantage of by the EU and the market economy, illustrated by the falling prices of their products and the amount of profit being lost between producer and consumer. Many people told me that the government should regulate prices or restrict imports. I was told that EU subsidies are "funny money" and that accession to the EU was "nothing but negative."

In this section I will consider the role of globalization, as the source of environmental risk associated with new technologies and economic risk associated with market forces, as a perceived threat to Polish national identity in the framing of the issues. I will examine the ways that both GMOs and conservation of agrobiodiversity are seen as Western concepts that are imposed and met with resistance.

4.5.1 GMOs as Resistance

As discussed in the previous sections, GMOs are new technology with associated unknown risks, and as a result they are met with a high level of resistance in much of Europe. This has led to efforts by biotech companies to introduce products where there is least knowledge and resistance, exploiting the lack of awareness. According to Dorota, these companies invite farmers to dinners, workshops and even trips to the United States in attempts to persuade them to plant GMOs. Biotech companies promise higher yields and increased profits, but for some of the people with whom I spoke this has provoked backlash and a feeling that these biotech companies, with so much money and power, are trying to conceal the risks and negative issues associated with their products.

Public response to GMOs in Poland was a result of individuals feeling this backlash. In 1997, according to an anti-GMO activist, field trials began in Poland without the consultation of the public (Harper 2004, Meyer 2007). A biotech company had been carrying out field trials of GM potatoes in Germany, but activists kept digging up the field at night in protest. To avoid the disruption of the trials, the company then moved their activity across the border to Poland where people had not even heard of GM crops, let alone developed opinions about them (Harper 2004). Then In 2000, a farmer's union offloaded a shipment of feed onto the railroad tracks in an act of protest, claiming the product had falsified GMO-free certificates and demanding proper labeling (Meyer 2007).

While viewed by some as 'ecocolonialism,' GMOs are also perceived as a threat to tradition and nation, with one farmer telling me that she doesn't want GMOs because they are "not Polish." It is concern that multi-national companies are controlling the

market and limiting farmers' choice that serves as the primary motivation for the organizations and activists working on anti-GMO campaigns.

Dorota, from ICPPC, regards GMOs as a "threat to the Polish countryside" and traditional methods of farming, and she doesn't want to see Poland follow the path of intensification and homogenization of agriculture that much of the industrialized world already has. In her opinion:

"If you look towards rich countries, Western countries - like Canada, or the US, they now try to revive something and they [spend] a lot of money and they cry for their losses that they lost from all of these chemicals and, now GMOs are even more of a disaster. So we can't repeat again and again the same mistakes, and Poland is a perfect example for sustainable agriculture."

Other activists felt similarly about GMOs. While environmental and human threats were a concern, the biggest danger posed was the control of multi-national corporations over rural life and the decreasing choice given to farmers and consumers. Malgorzata from SIE said "I think we don't know enough about GMOs, but really, I think that these companies are trying to control production, and if you control food production you control everything."

The rapid acceptance of GMOs in much of the world has resulted on the dependence of farmers on corporations for inputs and seed. GMOs are not even especially useful in Poland with the small land plots, so their acceptance would likely lead to widespread changes in land use that would change the very nature of rural communities.

This case represents frame amplification, where farmers' fears of being exploited (based on their past and the shifting political context) are invigorated by the dishonest and sneaky way farmers feel that GMOs have been introduced. These beliefs can be further aligned with campaign goals if anti-globalization sentiments can be bridged with beliefs about nation and precautionary attitudes associated with unknown risk.

4.6 Aligning the Frames

By examining the frames of conceptions of risk to human health and the environment, national identity and religion, and resistance to globalization, I have elaborated on the ways that campaigns work to make their activities, goals, and ideologies resonate with the values of beliefs of local communities.

I have found that the frame that aligns most effectively for both campaigns is the discussion of risk. This occurs despite the fact that anti-GMO activists themselves are primarily concerned with anti-globalization, and conservation of agrobiodiversity is largely motivated by discourses of national identity. I have found that Polish farmers are often resistant to new approaches, which was confirmed by people with whom I spoke. One activist told me "Polish farmers can stubborn, they can be tough. They are not always open to new methods." While this enhances the efforts of anti-GMO campaigns, it also hinders activities to conserve agrobiodiversity. Discourses of national identity and religion are also more effective with anti-GMO campaigns, despite the explicit efforts of

DDOiR and SIE to align these values with conservation of agrobiodiversity. Antiglobalization discourses have less resonance in both cases, but there is difficulty.

The efforts of campaigns on both issues are largely domain specific, attempting to resonate with the population and mobilize action on one specific issue, whether opposing GMOs or conserving agrobiodiversity. There are also attempts to employ global interpretative frame alignment, which requires a shift in worldview. For both campaigns to be successful, this type of frame alignment is necessary and it involves the adoption of a different perspective of the issues, situating them in a global context as opposition to uncertain risk, and homogenization of culture and markets. In the next section I will discuss ways that campaigns organize with each other and communities to more effectively align orientations and make more campaigns successful.

5. Social capital

In the previous chapter I discussed framing to examine the discourse surrounding the issues of agrobiodiversity and GMOs and the ways campaigns work to align their goals with the beliefs and values of people to mobilize action. In this chapter, I will discuss the networks and relationships campaigns use to communicate their discourse on the issues.

I will now introduce the concept of social capital and the ways it functions in civil society and post-socialist states. In doing so I will elaborate on ways that organizations working to conserve agrobiodiversity and oppose GMOs work within existing social structures as well as to construct new networks that are more effective in facilitating negotiation and action within communities and in relationship to the government. To do this, I will begin with a discussion of social capital and how the term has been used in different contexts. I will then use my experiences in Poland to elaborate on social networks there and how they have been shaped and function today. I will discuss the repercussions of the socialist past, the importance of informal networks and the results of recent accession to the EU by asking how the social networks that formed throughout and following socialism have adapted throughout these transitions and how does this impact the effectiveness of current agro-environmental campaigns?

5.1 Social capital

Social capital, as defined by Coleman (1988) is created in the relationships between people and used to facilitate action through the use of networks, reciprocity, trust, and social norms. While physical capital describes tangible tools (money, natural resources, etc.) and human capital describes knowledge and skills (education and experiences), social capital describes the relationships between people, which allow them to use physical and human capital to cooperate and coordinate action for mutual benefit and to facilitate change (Coleman 1988, Putnam 1995). For example, societies with strong social capital may have more voluntary associations and community organizations. This creates interpersonal networks where people have built trust and feel responsibility to meet obligations to one another.

Putnam writes that social capital strengthens networks of communication and cooperation allowing for more effective negotiations between actors in society, policy and economics. When problems arise in society that need to be addressed, societies with high levels of social capital already possess interpersonal networks based on trust and reciprocity that can be utilized to facilitate change. In contrast, if a society has low social capital these networks must be forged before action to address the problem can occur. The level of social capital available can then provide an explanation for the success or failure of similar efforts to manage common resources in different societies (Putnam 1993, Putnam 1995). While the relevance of social capital to the success of social movements has been acknowledged, its relationship to government institutions is debated.

Putnam's early work on social capital highlights that civic engagement enhances democratic institutions that then foster more civic engagement in a reciprocal fashion (Putnam 1993). In more recent work, focusing on the United States, he elaborates on the ways that social trust is learned from participation in associations, and how the strength

of associations determines the effectiveness of institutions (Putnam 2001). He argues that effective government institutions are the result of high levels of social capital and civic engagement. This causal relationship has been reshaped and sometimes outright challenged by scholars, especially when applying the concept of social capital outside established Western democracies (Letki 2004, Letki and Evans 2005, Evans 1996).

The concept of synergy or the way that "active governments and mobilized communities can aid each other's development" avoids implying causality between effective government and societal trust by examining the relationships between levels of social capital, government organization, politics and interests (Evans 1996). According to Evans (1996), social capital is a helpful component of change, but limited by the openness and willingness of government organizations to incorporate input from below, requiring public officials with interests that coincide with those of their constituents. Using the concept of synergy, social capital can facilitate effective cooperation but only when political institutions allow input and are receptive to the concerns of constituents.

This adds to the discourse on social capital by acknowledging the interplay (rather than causal relationship) between public and private actors and the ways that this interplay is context-specific, thus societies posses varying levels of social capital and governments vary in their receptiveness to input from society. The relationship between these factors determines the relevance of social capital. Having introduced some ways that social capital is defined, I will next situate the concept in the post-socialist context. I will then elaborate on some of the forms of social capital present in Poland today and how these

are used by agro-environmental campaigns.

5.2 Post-socialism and social capital

CEE countries are often viewed as having weak, or even destroyed social capital as a result of the prohibition of independent social engagement throughout socialism (Putnam 1995, Chlouphova, *et al.* 2003). Paldam and Svendsen (2000) go so far as to argue that social capital in CEE today is 'negative.' They maintain that by dismantling voluntary organizations dictatorships destroy social capital. In its place, due to the ineffectiveness of supply chains, interpersonal and informal networks develop that, while officially discouraged by the state, are permitted to function with some controls. The authors argue that sine the end of socialism, these networks have remained and without state control flourish in a form of 'negative social capital' (Paldam and Svendsen 2000).

Such conceptions of 'negative social capital' and Putnam's stress on the bottom up relationship between interpersonal trust and involvement in associations have been criticized in the post-socialist context specifically (Letki 2004, Letki and Evans 2005). These critics maintain that forms of interpersonal trust that persist in post-socialist societies, even after socialism where the uncertain political situation created a reliance on interpersonal networks, have not been destroyed or distorted into negative forms (Letki 2004).

Letki (2004) argues that in the post-socialist context, instead of a lack of interpersonal trust preventing involvement in associations, involvement is hindered by distrust of institutions and a lack of understanding of the political process. She finds that

transparency and understanding of democratic institutions are the most important factors in development of social capital. Letki and Evans (2005) maintain that effective institutions shape strong social capital, instead of social relations determining the effectiveness of institutions, as argued by Putnam.

During my research in Poland I found interpersonal networks, especially in rural communities, to be strong. Whenever I asked farmers and rural residents about their relationship with their neighbors I was told nothing but positive things. I was told that neighbors rely on each other to borrow tools, and when needed, labor. They also cooperated to purchase seed in bulk or trade seeds that are better quality. People described their relationships with neighbor to me as "very good" where "everyone gets along."

When asking unaffiliated farmers about their relationships with voluntary organizations and government, however, I was met with indifference and negative responses. I was told that government is "not helpful" and doesn't respond to peoples' concerns. One village woman seemed surprised by the question but then told me, "They [the government and organizations] work a lot but it has little effect: sometimes it is better and sometimes it is worse. We live in peace and calm here in the village – working with organizations and the government only makes our lives difficult."

In her work, Letki (2004) used survey data to examine levels of interpersonal trust, membership in voluntary organizations, and former Communist Party membership to explore the links between these factors and participation. She found that high levels of interpersonal trust were not reflected by involvement in voluntary organizations. Instead she found that active involvement in community organizations and even former Communist Party membership were more closely tied to an individual's willingness to participate. As a result, she concludes that an understanding of the political process learned through experience and the transparency of democratic institutions to allow citizens to learn are the most important factors in development of social capital.

While many changes have taken place to establish transparent democratic institutions in Poland, I found distrust is institutions remains prevalent and discourages participation. Representatives of the organizations I spoke with indicated that people are often reluctant to get involved in campaigns, explaining that many people do not have the time or inclination to participate, and doubt collective action will be productive. Dorota from ICPPC said, "It is difficult to get farmers involved. People are hesitant to work together because of memories of the communist time and so many times things were not working. They think they should produce food and that the role of the government, local or national, is just to help them sell and distribute food in the best conditions."

Voluntary organizations were dismantled under socialism, but interpersonal, informal networks were a part of daily life (Chloupkova *et al.* 2003, Paldam and Svendesen 2000). I will argue that this does not indicate that social capital was destroyed or has become negative, however. I found that interpersonal and informal relationships that exist in rural communities today are strong and positive with the potential to motivate change. In the

next section I will elaborate on ways that these networks forged in communities under socialism remain a valuable form of social capital and have played a vital role in the biggest successes of the agroenvironmental campaigns I examined.

5.3 Informal Networks

Interpersonal trust and informal networks remain important in the daily life of rural communities, especially within post-socialist states (Verdery 1996, Pine 2007). Throughout socialism people relied on the informal sector to acquire goods that were not available on the market due to inefficiencies in the state-controlled economic system (Verdery 1996, Chlouphova *et al.* 2003). Today, Polish people continue to rely on these networks and the informal economy to reduce costs and diversify their incomes (Chaplin *et al.* 2005). I will give examples of forms of how social capital created by these networks can and are being employed to enhance the effectiveness of agroenvironmental movements in Poland. I found that the main ways interpersonal connections and informal markets were used were to avoid bureaucracy and to reach consumers more easily.

5.3.1 Avoiding Bureaucracy

The percentage of the Polish economy operating in the informal sector in the period from 2004-2005 was estimated at 27 % (Gardes 2009). Malgorzata of SIE believes that number is much higher. "People rely on this black market. It is what they know and what works for them. I imagine it must be more than the government can know or want to say." During my time in Poland I met people who sold a variety of agricultural goods in the informal market, especially dairy products such as milk, cheese and eggs. I was told

that these goods are often sold informally to avoid the bureaucracy and paperwork required to sell things formally since EU accession with requirements of the EFSA.

I was told that EU regulations for sale of goods are complex for many farmers with little experience filing papers and keeping records, especially in the form in which they have been transposed into Polish law. I was told that while the EU regulations change little, Polish laws are changing constantly. One woman, a certified organic farmer who continues to sell goods mostly in the informal market kept pulling out files and files of pamphlets and papers trying to explain to me the complexities of the Polish law. In addition to avoiding bureaucracy these informal networks ensure fairer prices and more socially just economic exchanges (Mincyte 2011).

5.3.2 The Personal Connection

Villagers in Poland show a higher willingness than their urban counterparts to collaborate within their own community, and while trust in institutions is low it has been growing since EU accession (Fedyszak-Radziejowska 2008). Interpersonal community trust and relationships have the potential to increase effectiveness of collaboration within communities, and throughout the social structure as a whole, especially if this can be coupled with government reforms and increased transparency (Letki 2004). In Poland, campaigns work within these personal networks in their work to promote agroenvironmental issues. As discussed in Letki (2004) I found that increased involvement in community initiatives encourages more participation. I also found that new ideas and values, as well as the best place to get eggs, spread through these informal

networks. Most of the work of activists was spread through work of mouth, with people contacting the organizations they had heard of.

The village of Pokrzydowo, in Kujawy-Pomerania seemed the embodiment of cooperation for local profit-retention, environmental protection and tradition. In this small village of less than a thousand people there are two local processing plants, an organic distribution company and the headquarters of DDOiR. While DDOiR is a registered organization, it has strong links with the distribution company and processing plants (all are owned and run by members of one family) as well as farmers and community members.

One day, in the headquarters of DDOiR I witnessed a meeting of fourteen farmers who had gathered to discuss the process and possibility of converting to organic. There was no program or reception, just a circle of chairs and the possibility of coffee or tea. I asked how they organized such events and was told that usually people contact them, or mention interest at other events. When this happens the people at DDOiR take the contact information and once they have a list of people (every month or so) they call everyone for a meeting. It's simple and informal and that seems to be the way they like to work. Pawel was committed to these strategies and almost annoyed by more structured seminars and conferences, where according to him "most of the funding gets spent on food and location." Instead the members of DDOiR work pragmatically to address as many issues with as many people as they can.

When Pawel was taking me around the village he would point out the organic farms, which seemed to encompass most of what we saw. I asked him if this was an "organic village" and he laughed and said yes, in some ways it was. He showed me an area where they planned to start doing field trials of local varieties of seeds and an old orchard of more than four hundred trees that they are working to identify and categorize.

This method seems to be working, especially since DDOiR and similar agroenvironmental organizations like Heifer International and SIE strive to show farmers that conversion to organic agriculture and the use of local varieties can increase incomes and reduce costs. I found ideas originally conceived by a few people in this area are spreading through the community, region and even the country through interpersonal networks, making this form of social capital an important resource for activists.

This means that to be effective most campaigns work at the local level. While effective for mobilizing change locally working through interpersonal and informal networks often leads to difficulties when campaigns try to influence policy at higher levels. When describing work between communities one activist told me "It is much more difficult to have projects with many communities. People are not used to working this way. We have to tell them 'They [the other community] are not your enemies, they are your friends.'" While facilitating cooperation between communities is more difficult he was optimistic, adding "It's a learning experience. For us, it is possible. For them, it will be possible." I found that while campaigns can benefit from the social capital present in interpersonal networks the success of wide-reaching campaigns will still require the building of trust between communities and towards government institutions.

5.4 Moving Towards the West

I have shown some of the ways that history has shaped society's response to collective action and agroenvironmental issues. In addition to the distrust in institutions as a holdover from socialism and the prevalence and potential of informal networks, I will now discuss how these contextual factors interact with the EU and international actors.

Interaction with international actors has both positive and negative results for farmers and rural communities, especially since Poland has the largest rural population in the EU. Terms of accession meant that CAP was adopted without negotiation, which has caused some resentment in the rural farmers I spoke with. These people were frustrated by the amount of bureaucracy they encounter such as the requirement to register every animal and the stipulations of EFSA regulations that must for products to be sold on the market. As I mentioned in Chapter 4, EU subsidies are viewed as "not useful" and "funny money," with farmers desiring government regulated prices and bans on imports as were present under socialism. This reflects a resistance to systemic change from the population and results in a complicated relationship with the EU. When I asked farmers if they felt a connection with other farmers in the EU or globally it seemed this was not a situation they had previously considered. One woman told me, "T'm sure it is hard for everyone, but for us, it is especially hard." The lack of connection Polish farmers feel with the

outside world is a hindrance to cooperation in wider social movements necessary to negotiate large-scale change.

While farmers are often resistant to adopt new ideas the involvement of outside actors can actually help to motivate change. Several people told me that new ideas are sometimes viewed as novel and more justified when introduced by foreigners. As one organic farmer from Western Europe now living in Poland told me "If a stranger comes, he makes strange things. This is more normal than when someone from the community does this and sometimes the strange ideas become good ideas." Despite the resistance often felt towards outside influences when someone with new ideas join the community this seems to make Western ideas more valid than when introduced in government programs.

For organizations, there are also positive and negative aspects in their relations to international groups. All organizations collaborate with and rely heavily on grant money from the EU and international organizations and ICPPC and DDOiR, were founded as the result of inspiration from similar organizations abroad. These relationships grant Polish groups access to grants, experts and knowledge that are critical to their effectiveness. To gain access to these resources, however, they must adopt the language of international discourses and frame campaigns to fall in line with the goals of funding bodies. Malgorzata told me that SIE is not always able to address the issues they would like, or in the manner most suitable as a result. Another woman, Ela, told me that she has learned over the years which groups she can work with and which she would prefer not to. The adoption of international goals and discourses to acquire funding can result in the "reformatting" of political claims and practices to gain access to benefits (Michon 2002). While the organizations interviewed would prefer not to rely so heavily on outside sources they are also grateful for their relationships with outside bodies and the funding that makes their work possible.

5.5 Social Capital in Poland

In my research I found that strong interpersonal networks offer great potential to mobilize change for environmental issues but this change is somewhat limited to the local level due to the nature of the networks. I also found that Polish people work around EU regulations through the use of informal markets.

Letki (2004) found that involvement in local organizations led to greater trust and further participation as people became familiar with the political practice. Activists with whom I spoke also felt this way and were positive that education was the most important part of their work. I was told that new ideas are "growing like berries" as more people learn about these campaigns through word of mouth.

While campaigns work successfully through informal networks, stronger forms of social capital are formed with the potential to mobilize widespread action. For the time being campaigns seem most satisfied and effective working through established networks and slowly building more far-reaching networks.

6 Conclusion

Political ecology allows for the description of political, economic and social factors and their interaction with environmental issues. My examination of campaigns opposing GMOs and those promoting the conservation of agrobiodiversity legislation reflects the interplay between society and government as well as the relationships between members of society and government at different levels.

Without exploring the political, economic, and social factors at play it is difficult to understand how these two interrelated environmental issues have been received so differently by Polish government and society. GMOs are strongly and widely opposed by individuals, campaigns and the government—through citizen action and legal bans. The strength of the opposition has led to clashes with supranational government and created a mobilized public. In contrast, the issue of conserving agrobiodiversity has sparked almost no debate, and the government has passively accepted legislation designed in international and EU bodies.

In the case of GMOs, the legislation reflects the Polish state's struggle to assert a decision-making power that comes in marked contrast to the passive acceptance of agrobiodiversity legislation. The campaigns reflect similar struggle taking place between activists and citizens as well as between citizens and the government. The reception and responses to these issues by the Polish people and government highlights the way that agroenvironmental policies differ not only in degree but in kind and the way that national

policies, even those transposed from EU legislation, develop differently as a result of distinct national histories and characteristics (Bruszt 2008, Jehliaka and Tickle 2004).

In my study I have illustrated how related campaigns can be shaped and received differently, even within the context of one state. I found both the opposition to GMOs and the indifference to conservation of agrobiodiversity to be rooted in a hesitancy on the part of the Polish population to accept new ideas, especially when these new ideas are perceived as being imposed on them from outside sources. In examining the opposition to GMOs Poland, I found that campaigns resonated most effectively with communities when highlighting the uncertain risk of this new technology and invoking a fear of the unknown. This came in stark contrast to campaigns seeking the conservation of agrobiodiversity, for whom this strategy was far less effective and, as a result, have had more difficulty in mobilizing action.

The population of Poland has historically resisted change when it is dictated to them from above, whether from the Soviet Union or the EU, and I found this hesitancy to adopt new practices to be at the root both of their opposition to GMOs and indifference toward the conservation of agrobiodiversity. Both the adoption of GMOs or policies promoting the conservation of agrobiodiversity would require changes in governance and practices, and as such both concepts have been met with heavy resistance. The Polish government's lack of enforcement of EU legislation and its limited support for programs that conserve agrobiodiversity reflect the an unwillingness or inability—or both—to adopt new practices despite demands from both the EU and the Polish public.

Campaigns have found the most success by working through pre-established social networks and by appealing to pre-established beliefs and values. This indicates that, despite the strong feelings people have opposing GMOs and some EU CAP policies, the general public in Poland is reluctant to adopt not just new ideas and technology but also new social structures and methods for mobilizing change.

The narratives surrounding these issues has been determined by EU and international parties, and this threatens the Polish people's power to self-govern and control their environment (Stott and Sullivan 2000, Schwatrz 2005). This idea may be at the root of many people's reluctance to adopt these narratives.

A desire among the Polish public to retain decision-making power and to shape and determine their own interpretation of international and EU concepts provides and illustration of some of the challenges that are faced in the implementation of EU policy in the CEE region. Post-socialist histories and rapid transformations of governments and economies, coupled with the conditions and stipulations of EU accession, have resulted in different interpretations of laws and influenced the response of the public as they try to navigate their place in the EU (Zellei 2001, Gorton *et al.* 2005). In Poland, this has been

reflected largely by the reluctance of communities and government to make systemic changes, whether they be to policies, practices, beliefs or relationships.

Bibliography

- Aistara, G. 2009. *Maps from space*. Latvian Organic Farmers Negotiate their Place in the European Union . Sociologia Ruralis 49 (2): 132 -150.
- Altieri, M.A. 1989, Acroecology: a new research and development paradigm in world agriculture. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 27: 37-46.
- Altieri, M.A. and Merrick, L.C. 1987. In situ conservation of crop genetic resources through maintenance of traditional farming systems. Economic Botany 41: 86-96.
- ANPED (Northern Alliance for Sustainability). 2000. *Genetically Engineered Food and Crops in Poland*. Report prepared for ANPED, The Northern Alliance for Sustainability and MURE, The Malopolska Union for Organic Farming
- Beck, U. 1992. *Risk society: towards a new modernity*. Trans. Ritter, M. Newbury Park, California: SAGE Publications, Ltd.
- Benbrooke, C. 2009. Impacts of genetically engineered crops on pesticide use: the first thirteen years. Boulder: The Organic Center.
- Bignal, E.M., and McCracken, D. I. 2000. *The nature conservation value of European traditional farming systems*. Environ. Rev. 8: 149–171
- Bradley, K. S. C.. 1998. Alien corn or the transgenic procedural maze. In *EU Committees as Influential Policymakers*. Ed. MP Van Schendelen. 207-222 Ashgate: Aldershot.
- Brush, S. B., ed. 2000. Genes in the Field: On-farm Conservation of Crop Diversity. International Plant Genetic Resources Institute. Rome: International Development Research Centre Lewis Publishers.,
- Bruszt, L. 2008. Multi-level governance the Eastern versions: emerging patterns of regional development in the new member states. Regional and Federal Studies 18 (5): 607-627.
- Bulinska-Radomska, Z., Lapinski B., and Arseniuk E. 2008. *Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture in Poland: Second National Report*. Poland: Plant Breeding and Acclimatization Institute.

Burr, V. 1995. An introduction to social constructivism. London: Routledge.

- Chaplin, H., Davidova, S and Gorton, M. 2005. *Impediments to employment and enterprise diversification: evidence from small-scale farms in Poland*.Paper prepared for 11th Congress of the EAAE . (European Association of Agricultural Economists).Copenhagen, Denmark: August 24-27.
- Chloupkova, J., Svendsen, G.L.H., and Svendsen, G. T. 2003. Building and destroying social capital the case of cooperative movements in Denmark and Poland. Agriculture and Human Values 20: 241-252.
- Coleman, J. S. 1988. *Social capital in the creation of human capital*. American Journal of Sociology 94: 95-120.
- Dannenberg, P and Kuemmerle, T. Farm size and landuse pattern changes in postsocialist Poland. Professional Geographer 62 (2) :197-210.
- Domingo, J.L. 2007. Toxicity studies of genetically modified plants: a review of the published literature. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition, 47:721–733
- EUROPA. 2010. Commission announces upcoming proposal on choice for Member States to cultivate or not GMO's and approves 5 decisions on GMO's. Press Release: 2 March 2010.
- European Commission on Agriculture and Biodiversity. 2010. http://ec.europa.eu/agriculture/envir/biodiv/index_en.htm
- Eurostat. 2010. Agriculture in the EU-27. Press Release. http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/cache/ITY_PUBLIC/5-07052010-AP/EN/5-07052010-AP-EN.PDF
- Evans, P. 1996. *Government Action, Social Capital and Development: Reviewing the Evidence on Synergy.* World Development, 24 (6) :1119-1132
- FAO. 2004. What is agrobiodiversity? Fact sheet in *Building on gender, agrobiodiversity* and local knowledge.
- Falkner, G. and Treib, O. 2008. *Three world of compliance or four? The EU-15 compared to the new member states.* JCMS 46 (2): 292-313.
- Fedyszak-Radziejowska, B. 2008. *Home at last: rural Poland after accession*. Focus on agrilculture 1 (17) : 8-11.
- Franklin, S. 2002. Bialowieza Forest, Poland: representation, myth, and the politics of dispossession. Environment and Planning 34: 1459 1485.

- Frisvold, G.B. and Condon, P.T. 1998. *The convention on biological diversity and agriculture: Implications and unresolved debates.* World Development 26 (4) : 551-570.
- Furmankiewicz, M. Thompson, N. and Zielinska, M. 2010. Area-based partnership in rural Poland: the post-accession experience. Journal of Rural Studies 26: 52-62.
- Gaskell, G., Bauer, M.W., Durant, J. and Allum N.C. 1999. Worlds apart? The reception of GM foods in Europe and the U.S. Science 285: 384-387.
- Gatzweiler, F. 2005. *Central and eastern European agriculture and environment: the challenges of governance at multiple levels.* Sociologia Ruralis 45 (3): 139-152.

Goffman, E. 1974. Frame analysis: An essay on the organization of experience. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

- Gorton, M., Lowe P., Zellei, A. 2005. Pre-accession Europeanisation: the strategic realignment of the environmental policy systems of Lithuania, Poland and Slovakia towards agricultural pollution in preparation for EU Membership. Sociologia Ruralis 45 (3): 202 -223.
- Gray, J. 2000. The common agricultural policy and the re-invention of the rural in the *European community*.
- Hann, C.M. 1985. A village without Solidarity: Polish peasants in the years of crisis. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Harper, K.M. 2004. The genius of the nation versus the gene-tech of the nation: science, identity, and GMO debates in Hungary. Science as Culture 13(4): pp. 471-492.
- Harper, K. 2005. Wild capitalism and ecocolonialism. American Anthropologist 107 (2): 221-233.
- Heller, C. and Escobar, A. 2003. From pure genes to GMOs: transnationalized landscapes in the biodiversity and transgenic gene networks. In *Genetic nature/culture: anthropology and science beyond the two culture divide*. Eds. A.H. Goodman, D. Heath, and M. Lindee. University of California Press: Berkeley.
- Henle, K. Alard, D., Clitherow, J. Niemela, J. Rebane, M. Wascher, D. Watt, A. and Young, J. *Identifying and managing the conflicts between agriculture and biodiversity conservation in Europe- a review*. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 124: 60–71

- Heywood, V. 1995 Global Biodiversity Assessment. United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Hooghe, L. and Marks, G. 2003. Unraveling the Central State, but How? Types of Multi-Level Governance. American Political Science Review 97 (2) : 233-243.
- Hawarth, D. and Stravrakakis, Y. 2000. Introducing discourse theory and political analysis. In: *Discourse theory and political analysis: identities, hegemonies, and social change*. Eds. Hawarth, D., Norwal, A.J., and Stravrakakis, Y. 1-23. Manchester: Manchester University Press.

ICCPC. 2008. GMO-free zones. http://www.icppc.pl/eng

InfoMG. 2008. GMOs in Europe. http://www.infomg.ro/web/en/GMOs_in_Europe/

Jarvis, D. 1999. Strengthening the scientific basis of in situ conservation of agricultural biodiversity on farm. Botanica Lithuania 2:79-90.

- Jarvis, D. I., Myer, L., Klemick, H., Guarino, L., Smale, M., Brown, A.H.D., Sadiki M., Sthapit, B. and Hodgkin, T. 2000. *A training guide for in-situ conservation on farm.* International Plant Genetic Resources Institute, Rome, Italy.
- Jasanoff, Sheila. 2005. *Designs on Nature: Science and Democracy in Europe and the United States*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Jehliâka, P. and Tickle, A. 2004. Environmental implications of eastern enlargement: the end of progressive EU environmental policy? Environmental Politics 13 (1): 77 95.
- Jorgenson, M. and Phillips, L. 2002. *Discourse analysis as theory and method*. London: Sage Publications Ltd.
- Kurzer, P. and Cooper, A. 2007. What's for dinner? European framing and food traditions confront American technology. Comparative Political Studies 40 (9): 1035-1058.
- Letki, N. 2004. Socialization for participation? Trust, membership and democratization in east-central Europe. Political Research Quarterly 57: 665-679.

Letki, N and Evans, G. 2005. Endogenizing Social Trust: Democratization in East-

Central Europe. British Journal of Political Science 35 (3): 515-529.

- Levidow, L. and Boschert, K. 2008. *Coexistence or contradiction: GM crops vs. alternative agriculture in Europe*. Geoforum 39: 170-194.
- Lubiatowska-Krysiak E., and Twardowski, T. 2008. *Farmers' opinion about GM Plants*. Biotechnologia 8: 131–141
- McAfee, K. 2003. Neoliberalism on the molecular scale: economic and genetic reductionism in biotechnology battles. Geoforum 34: 203-219.
- Marks, G., Hooghe, L., Blank, K. 1996. European integration from the 1980s: statecentric vs. multi-level governance. Journal of Common Market Studies 34 (3) : 341-378.
- Marshal, M. N. 1996. Sampling for qualitative research. Family Practice 13 (6) : 522 555.
- Maxted, N., Ford-Lloyd, B., and Hawkes, J. G. 1997. *Plant genetic conservation: the in situ approach*. London: Chapman & Hall.
- Meyer, H. 2007. *GMO-free regions manual: case studies from around the world.* Germany:IFOAM.
- Mincyte, D. 2011. Subsistence and sustainability in post-industrial Europe: the politics of small-scale farming in Europeanising Lithuania. Sociologia Ruralis 51 (2) : 101 118.
- Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development. 2009. Agriculture and food economy in *Poland*. Warsaw.
- Muller, B. 2006. *Introduction: GMOs global objects of contention*. Focaal European Journal of Anthropology 48: 3-16.
- Noisette, C. 2008. 3000 hectares of illegal GM corn in Poland with industry assistance. GM Watch. <u>http://www.infogm.org/spip.php?article3691</u>
- Pagis, J. 2006. Behind their common struggles against GMOs: political cultures that divide. Focaal European Journal of Anthropology 48: 49-66.
- Paldam, M and Svendesen G.T. 2000. *Missing social capital in eastern Europe*. Journal for Institutional Innovation, Development and Transition 5: 21-34.

- Pascual, U. and Perrings, C. 2007. Developing incentives and economic mechanisms for in-situ biodiversity conservation in agricultural landscapes. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 121: 256-268.
- Putnam, R. D. 1993. The Prosperous Community. American Prospect 4 (13): 65-78.
- Putnam, R. D. 1995. *Bowling alone: America's declining social capital*. Journal of Democracy 6 (1): 65-78.
- Putnam, R. D. 2001. 2001. When Government Fails. Social Capital in an Anti- modern Russia. In *Beyond Tocqueville. Civil Society and the Social Capital Debate in Comparative Perspective.* Eds. Edwards, M., Foley W. and Hanover, M. London: Tufts University Press.
- Ritchie, J. and Lewis, J. 2003. *Qualitative research practice*. London: Sage Publications. Foundations of Qualitative Research.
- Robbins, P. 2004. What is political ecology? In *Political ecology: a critical introduction*. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Schwartz, K. Z. S. 2005. Wild horses in a European wilderness: imagining sustainable development in the post-communist countryside. Cultural Geographies 12: 1-29
- Seidman, I. 1998. Interviewing as qualitative research. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Sikor, T.. 2005. Property and Agri-environmental legislation in Central and Eastern *Europe*. Socialogia Ruralis 45 (3): 187-201.
- Snow, D.A., Rochford, E.B., Worden, S.K, Benford, R.D. 1986. Frame alignment processes, micromobilization and movement participation. American Sociological Review 51 (4): 464-481.

SOT (Society of Toxicology). 2003. *The safety of genetically modified foods produced through biotechnology*. Toxicol. Sci.,71: 2-8.

Stogstad, G. 2008. Supranational Regulation and Contested Accountability: The Case of GMO Risk Regulation in the European Union. EUI Working Paper. Badia Fiesolana, Italy: European University Institute.

- Stott, P. and Sullivan, S. 2000. Introduction. In *Political ecology: science, myth and power*, ed. P. Stott and S. Sullivan. London: Arnold.
- Szurek, J.C. 1987. *Family farms in Polish agricultural policy: 1945-1985.* East European Politics and Societies 1 : 225-254.
- Taylor, S. and Bogdan, R. 1984. *Introduction to qualitative research methods*. New York: John Wiley and Sons.
- USDA. 2006. Poland Bans the Sale and Registration of Biotech Seeds. GAIN Report (26/04/2006).
- Verdery, K. 1999. *What was socialism and what comes next?* Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Veteto, J. R. and Skarbø, K. Sowing the seeds: anthropological contributions to agrobiodiversity studies. Culture and Agriculture 31 (2):73-87.
- Vogler, J. 1999. *The European Union as an actor in international environmental politics*. Environmental Politics 8 (3), 24-48.
- Watts, M. and Peet, R. 2004. Liberating political ecology. In: *Liberation Ecologies: Environment, Development and Social Movements*. Ed: Watts, M. and Peet. R. London: Routledge.
- Woods, M. 2003. *Deconstructing rural protest: the emergence of a new social movement.* Journal of Rural Studies 19: 309–325
- WHO. (2002). Foods derived from modern technology: 20 questions on genetically modified foods. <u>http://www.who.int/fsf/GMfood/</u>
- Young, J., Richards, C., Fischer A., Haladam L., Kull, T., Kuzniar, A., Tartes, U. Uzunow, Y. and Watt, A. 2007. *Conflicts between Biodiversity Conservation*
- and Human Activities in the Central and Eastern European Countries. Ambio 36 (7): 545 550.
- Zawojska, A. 2010. Determinants of farmers' trust in government agricultural agencies in Poland. Agricultural Economics – Czech 56 (6) : 266-283.
- Zellei. 2001. Challenges for Agri-Environmental Policies in CEE Countries. CEESA discussion paper.